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Preliminary Note: Cautionary Statement Pursuant to Safe Harbor Provisions of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995:
Except for the historical information presented in this document, the matters discussed in this
annual report on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ending May 31, 2007 or otherwise
incorporated by reference into this document, contain "forward-looking statements" (as such
term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995). These statements are
identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as "believes", "plans", "intend",
"scheduled", "potential", "continue", "estimates", "hopes", "goal", "objective", expects", "may",
"will", "should" or "anticipates" or the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable
terminology, or by discussions of strategy that involve risks and uncertainties. The safe harbor
provisions of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A
of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, apply to forward-looking statements made by us. We
caution you that no statements contained in this Form 10-KSB should be construed as a
guarantee or assurance of future performance or results. These forward-looking statements
involve risks and uncertainties, which include risks and uncertainties associated with, among
other things, the outcome of pending class action litigation alleging violations of federal
securities laws, the outcome of Massachusetts federal district court litigation initiated by
Analogic Corporation concerning our TIICM™ technology, whether the government will
implement WVAS at all or with the inclusion of a SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor, the impact
of competitive products and pricing, limited visibility into future product demand, slower
economic growth generally, difficulties inherent in the development of complex technology, new
products sufficiency, availability of capital to fund operations, research and development,
fluctuations in operating results, and these and other risks are discussed in the "Known Trends,
Risks and Uncertainties" in the Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations section of this Form 10-KSB. The actual results that we achieve may
differ materially from any forward-looking statements due to such risks and uncertainties. These
forward-looking statements are based on current expectations, and, except as required by law, we
assume no obligation to update this information whether as a result of new information, future
events or otherwise. Readers are urged to carefully review and consider the various disclosures
made by us in this Form 10-KSB and in our other reports filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission that attempt to advise interested parties of the risks and factors that may affect our
business.
AWSM™, SOCRATES®, UNICORN™ and TIICM™ are trademarks of ours. This Form
10-KSB also refers to trademarks and trade names of other companies and organizations.
Unless the context indicates otherwise, all references in this Form 10-KSB to "we," "our,"
"us," "the company," "FST" and "Flight Safety" refer on a consolidated basis to Flight Safety
Technologies, Inc, a Nevada Corporation, or to our former subsidiary, Flight Safety
Technologies Operating, Inc., a Delaware corporation (sometimes referred to as "FSTO") that
was merged into FST on June 27, 2003.
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PART I
Item 1. Description of Business.
Overview
We are developing four new technologies designed to enhance aviation safety and efficiency.
These technologies include AWSM™, SOCRATES®, UNICORN™, and TIICM™.
SOCRATES® is a technology we are developing into a ground-based laser acoustic sensor to
detect and track wake vortices at airports.
AWSM™ - is a technology we are developing into a system of sensors and other components to
form a wake vortex avoidance system (WVAS).
UNICORN™ is a technology we are developing into an airborne radar for collision avoidance
and ground proximity warning.
TIICM™ is a technology we are developing into a system to protect commercial and military
aircraft against terrorist threats from heat seeking missiles.
We are developing an aircraft wake safety management system we refer to as AWSM™ to be a
full wake vortex avoidance system which may be used by Air Traffic Controllers as an advanced
air traffic management tool for safely reducing the applied separation between aircraft. Studies
have shown that significant gains in airport capacity may be realized through use of a system
such as AWSM™. In 2006, the Joint Planning and Development Office (JPDO), which is
responsible for defining the roadmap to the Next Generation Air Transportation System (known
as NextGen), published a Baseline Operational Improvement Roadmap. That document called
for the reduction of longitudinal arrival/departure spacing between aircraft based on groundbased wake vortex prediction and detection. We are designing the AWSM™ system to meet that
requirement. A partial system emulation, based on pre-recorded aircraft arrival data, was
presented to the government on February 28, 2007.
We believe that AWSM™, upon completion and deployment at major airports, can potentially;
Ÿ
Ÿ
Ÿ
Ÿ

Improve the safety of aircraft arrivals and departures at airports;
Safely increase runway landing and takeoff rates;
Reduce passenger delays; and
Generate substantial cost savings for the airline industry and other airport users.
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We are developing SOCRATES® technology to be a component for possible inclusion in
AWSM™. From 1997 to 2005, we focused on developing and testing the SOCRATES® wake
vortex sensor technology. Much of this work was funded by the U.S. Department of
Transportation (DOT) and managed by the DOT Volpe Center in Cambridge, Massachusetts.
On September 13, 2003, we completed a three-week test of an improved SOCRATES® wake
vortex sensor at Denver International Airport. Based upon our analysis of initial data, this test
demonstrated a major increase in the capability and reliability of the sensor. Building upon these
three tests, we further developed our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor and tested a 16-beam
configuration during September 2005. Based on our analysis of the data, this 2005 test
demonstrated a further increase in the capability and reliability of our SOCRATES® wake
vortex sensor.
During this time, we generally subcontracted to Lockheed Martin Corporation significant
participation in the development and assembly of the hardware components of our
SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor, including the low-power laser generators, reflectors, and
receivers. Lockheed Martin Corporation personnel also have supported the operation of this
equipment during tests of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor through various stages of
development to date, have been developing software used in analyzing test data and have worked
with us in analyzing test data itself. Our payments to Lockheed Martin Corporation averaged
approximately $825,000 or 34% of our average contract revenue for FY 2007 and FY 2006. As
of May 31, 2007, pursuant to the terms of the teaming agreement, this relationship terminated.
Starting in September 2005, our Volpe DOT contract directed us to commence the development
of AWSM™ technology. In February 2007 we presented an initial functional emulation of much
of the hardware and software integration of AWSM™ technology, utilizing pre-recorded sensor
data from the September 2005 SOCRATES® tests as well as Lockheed Martin's Lidar sensor
subsystem. Depending on government direction and approval of test protocols, and funding
availability, we are contemplating further AWSM™ technology development and testing
including live emulation tests of the full system and safety assessment demonstrations. The
prospects for if and when the government, particularly the Federal Aviation Administration, will
provide any such direction, approval or funding are uncertain and we can make no assurance as
to whether or when we will proceed with further testing of AWSM™ technology.
We also are developing a collision avoidance and ground proximity warning system for aircraft
based on our technology referred to as UNICORN™. On September 13, 2002, we received a
frequency assignment from the Federal Communications Commission for experimental purposes
and development of UNICORN™ technology which was renewed under certain conditions on
September 1, 2006. Having re-applied for renewal, we are still able to use the frequency for
development of the technology. In August 2003, we signed a contract with Georgia Tech
Research Institute, (GTRI), under which GTRI commenced work on the construction of our
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UNICORN™ technology antenna elements. We also contracted with Microwave Solutions,
Limited, in England to produce the radar electronic modules. An initial proof-of-principle tower
based test of UNICORN™ technology antenna elements, one of the major components of a
potential UNICORN™ system, was conducted in August of 2005. During our fiscal year 2007,
we curtailed research and development of UNICORN™ technology while we pursue the
possibility of raising research and development funding for UNICORN™ through a taxadvantaged research and development partnership.
During our fiscal year 2007, we continued pursuing a third new technology initiative, called
TIICM™ (Tactical Integrated Illuminating Countermeasure), for protection of military or
commercial aircraft against certain shoulder-launched terrorist missile threats. We believe that
TIICM™ technology may be a more cost-effective solution to this problem than competing
military systems which are currently being funded by the government. We had been working on
development of TIICM™ technology with Sanders Design International, a small innovative
defense contractor based in New Hampshire and Analogic Corp (NASDAQ: ALOG) a larger
company based in Peabody, Massachusetts. On June 26, 2006, Analogic filed a lawsuit against
us and SDI, alleging that a teaming agreement between us and SDI should be invalidated. We
are actively defending this lawsuit. We have incurred direct costs of approximately $700,000 for
TIICM™ technology research and development thus far, not including overhead and general and
administrative costs. During and since the end of our fiscal year 2007, we have curtailed our
research and development on TIICM™ technology pending resolution of this lawsuit.
We contracted with Georgia Tech Research Institute (GTRI) to utilize their government
validated simulation model to subject TIICM™ technology to over 100,000 simulated missile
attacks on a Boeing 737 aircraft. Preliminary results of this analysis were encouraging. There
can be no assurance as to if, or when, we will be able to successfully develop TIICM™
technology, that our TIICM™ technology efforts will result in any contracts, or revenues, or
profits, to us, or that our relationships with other companies to develop TIICM™ technology will
be successfully formalized, or that there will be any revenues, or profits, to us.
Since our inception, our primary source of funding has been four successive contracts with the
federal government aggregating approximately $19.8 million for research, development and
testing of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor. We have not had any revenues from
commercial sales of any of our technologies, and we may not realize such sales for several years.
We have incurred cumulative losses of $9,341,826 as of May 31, 2007, which we have funded
with the proceeds of three equity offerings. We will need additional funds to complete our future
research and development of these technologies and may need to raise additional capital for this
purpose. We may consider and execute from time to time strategic investments, acquisitions or
other transactions that we believe will benefit us and complement our current operations,
technologies, and resources.
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History
We are a Nevada corporation that was incorporated in May 2001 under the name of Reel Staff,
Inc. to provide staffing services to film, video and television production companies. Prior to a
share exchange in September 2002 with the shareholders of Flight Safety Technologies, Inc.,
(FSTO), a Delaware corporation, our operations were minimal and our revenues were not
material. Our organization and limited operations primarily were funded by (i) a contribution of
services from shareholders, who in return were issued common stock and (ii) $12,075 of
proceeds from a private placement of our common stock to investors. In October 2001, we
registered these shares with the SEC under the Securities Act of 1933 pursuant to an SB-2
Registration Statement, as amended, that we filed with the SEC in order to make our shares of
common stock eligible for public trading. Since that time, we have filed periodic reports with
the SEC pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
FSTO, which originally commenced operations in 1997 as a Wyoming corporation, was cofounded by two of our directors, Samuel A. Kovnat and Frank L. Rees. In consideration of his
shares, Mr. Rees assigned his SOCRATES® and UNICORN™ patents to FSTO. In
consideration of Mr. Kovnat's shares, he contributed intellectual capital and services to FSTO.
Advanced Acoustic Concepts, Inc. and Leonard Levie were also founders of FSTO. Advanced
Acoustic Concepts, Inc. received shares of common stock in FSTO in consideration of its release
of any claims on the UNICORN™ patent contributed by Mr. Rees, and Mr. Levie received his
shares in consideration of contributing his business experience, and developing an initial
business plan for FSTO. As a result, FSTO owned patents on our SOCRATES® and
UNICORN™ technologies.
FSTO received the original contract with the federal government for the research and
development of our SOCRATES® technology in connection with its potential application to
wake vortices on May 29, 1997. On November 3, 2000, FSTO completed a private placement of
preferred stock arranged by Spencer Trask Securities Incorporated which resulted in net proceeds
to us of approximately $1,500,000. In consideration of this placement, Spencer Trask
Intellectual Capital Company, LLC received shares of our common stock and warrants to acquire
our preferred stock, as well as placement agency fees and reimbursement of certain costs. All of
the preferred shares and warrants for preferred shares were converted, respectively, to common
stock and warrants for common stock pursuant to their terms as a result of a share exchange.
In September 2002, we consummated a share exchange with the stockholders of FSTO. The
share exchange was facilitated by Dunhill Venture Partners Corp., a Vancouver, British
Columbia based firm. Dunhill Venture Partners Corp. also facilitated a private placement of a
total of 283,334 shares of our common stock and 283,334 warrants, each for one share of our
common stock, to Wakefield Holdings Corp. and Nicholson Group Limited, pursuant to
Regulation S promulgated by the SEC, which resulted in aggregate proceeds to us of $1.7
million. In January 2003, we registered these shares and the warrant shares with the SEC
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pursuant to an SB-2 Registration Statement. During July and August 2003, the warrants were
exercised, and we issued the 283,334 warrant shares, generating $1.7 million in aggregate
proceeds to us. As a result of the share exchange, we discontinued our previous operations and
changed our name to Flight Safety Technologies, Inc., FSTO changed its name to Flight Safety
Technologies Operating, Inc., FSTO became our subsidiary and stockholders of FSTO acquired
approximately 53% of our outstanding common stock. In June 2003, FSTO merged into us, and
we now own the patents on and are continuing the development of our SOCRATES® and
UNICORN™ technologies.
During February 2004, we sold 1,514,300 units at $6.00 per unit in a registered underwritten
secondary public offering. Each unit consisted of two shares of our common stock and a warrant
to purchase one share of our common stock at $3.30 a share. Separate trading of the common
shares and warrants began on March 1, 2004. We received net proceeds from this offering of
approximately $7.6 million.
Principal Concepts Under Development and Market Opportunities
SOCRATES® Wake Vortex Sensor and the AWSM™ system
Whenever an aircraft is in flight, its wings and wing flaps create wake vortices, which are similar
to horizontal tornadoes trailing back from the wing tips. If a second aircraft encounters these
vortices, even several minutes after the first plane has passed, its pilot's control of the aircraft
may be compromised. To address these hazards, the Federal Aviation Administration, sometimes
known as the FAA, has established requirements for increased spacing between airplanes as they
land and take off. The spacing translates into more time in the air, which results in flight delays
and increased fuel and flight crew costs. Requirements for even larger spacing for aircraft
trailing the new, very large Airbus A380 are anticipated to further exacerbate wake-related flight
delays.
Our initial focus for SOCRATES® technology has been the development of a wake vortex
sensor to detect, locate and track wake vortex turbulence, based on the sound radiated by the
turbulence. The sensor design includes a low-power laser transmitter and receiver, a laser beam
reflector and special optical and electronic components to translate changes in laser
transmissions caused by their interaction with sound radiation from the vortices, and determine
the presence and location of wake vortex turbulence. While our present focus is on air
turbulence created by aircraft wakes, we believe that with future research and development our
SOCRATES® technology may also enable the detection of various hazardous atmospheric
phenomena, such as wind shear and microbursts. If and when we successfully complete further
development, testing and obtain FAA approval, our sensor could become a component in a wake
vortex advisory system, sometimes referred to as WVAS, to be used by air traffic controllers to
establish safe separation between either arriving or departing aircraft. In furthering this
development, we plan to integrate the sensor with other potential components of a WVAS, and
develop operating protocols for use of our sensor with other WVAS components by air traffic
controllers and pilots.
5

In 2006, we began to develop the Aircraft Wake Safety Management that we sometimes refer to
as AWSM™ system. AWSM™ is intended to be a tool used at airports to provide air traffic
control, sometimes referred to as ATC, with a recommendation to use either standard wake
vortex spacing or minimum radar spacing when aircraft land or take off. We expect AWSM™
would include the following components: prediction algorithms (available from NASA) which
numerically compute the motion of a vortex pair for a given aircraft and local meteorological
conditions, the SOCRATES® and LIDAR sensors which would measure the motion of the same
vortex pair, and weather persistence predictions (provided by NASA) which forecast the
persistence of local weather conditions, adoptive spacing procedures, and communication links
between sensor and ATC.
In addition to providing ATC with a wake separation
recommendation (e.g., either use standard wake spacing or use minimum radar spacing),
AWSM™ would deliver an estimated persistence time which would alert ATC to a possible
change in the recommendation which may occur in the future (on the order of 30 minutes) and
controller guidance to resolve predicted wake encounters throughout the terminal airspace. A
partial system emulation based on recorded data was presented to the DOT's Volpe Center in
February 2007.
In June 2003, the FAA approved a long-term mission needs statement and related investment
plan that contemplates expenditures by FAA and NASA of $206 million during the period
running from U.S. fiscal year 2003 through 2010 on wake vortex detection research and
development. The FAA investment plan includes deployment of a prototype WVAS and
culminates in development of wake turbulence capability at selected airports and integration with
controller tools. The mission needs statement has not and may not be approved at all necessary
levels of the federal government, and the federal government may not provide the funding
required to complete the mission needs statement. This funding must be annually requested by
the FAA, authorized and approved by Congress, and approved by the President. There is no
assurance as to what amount of contract funding, if any, we will receive in connection with the
mission needs statement to complete the research, development, and testing of our
SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor or AWSM™ technology for inclusion in a WVAS. Through
U.S. fiscal year ending September 30, 2007, the FAA has not requested Congress to appropriate
any significant funds for this purpose. The FAA has assigned an overall moderate to high risk
rating to the implementation of this program due to technical unknowns and risks associated with
getting controllers and pilots to accept a ground or flight deck based system.
We believe the FAA's substantial investment in addressing the problems associated with wake
vortex turbulence and its issuance of the long-term mission needs statement for wake turbulence
indicate its awareness that there is a growing need in the aviation industry for technologies to
combat the wake vortex problem. There are many other participants and constituencies that
could have an interest in the deployment and financing of our technology. For example, the
International Federation of Airline Pilots Associations, (IFALPA), which represents over
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100,000 pilots worldwide and is recognized as the global voice of pilots on both labor and
aviation safety issues, officially states a requirement for vortex monitoring in any system
designed to safely reduce the current wake vortex-related spacing requirements. The busier
airports, which are typically owned and operated by state and local authorities, also have a
natural interest in increasing airport safety and efficiency. Airlines also could benefit from
installation of AWSM™, through increased safety and efficiencies and a reduction in fuel costs
attributable to delays.
AWSM™ still faces technical hurdles and, furthermore, must be accepted by a variety of
constituencies involved in the National Airspace System, including, but not limited to, air traffic
controllers and pilots. We can make no assurance whether or when the FAA will implement
AWSM™, either with or without our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor. At this time, we do not
know if we can successfully complete development of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor, if
the federal government will provide the funding required to complete our plan, if we will
successfully implement the plan and testing, or if the government will implement AWSM™ at
all or with the inclusion of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor.
UNICORN™ Technology
We also have pursued development of an airborne collision and ground proximity warning
system we refer to as UNICORN™. As of May 31, 2007, our cumulative research and
development expenditure on UNICORN™ was approximately $1,318,000. During August, 2005
we tested a UNICORN™ prototype antenna in a successful proof-of-principle test detecting
airborne aircraft. The data collected from this test was used to create a technical remediation
plan for improved performance and we are pursuing additional funding in order to proceed with
plans for the eventual commercialization of UNICORN™.
Our original plan for UNICORN™ technology was to provide a low-cost, combined, collision
alerting and ground proximity warning capability for general aviation aircraft, including private,
business and smaller regional and commercial aircraft. Since our fiscal year ended May 31,
2004, we also have been investigating the potential application of our UNICORN™-based
"sense and avoid" collision avoidance technology for unmanned air vehicles, sometimes referred
to as UAVs, including military, other government, and commercial operations. Accelerating
government requirements for UAV applications in the U.S. domestic airspace, together with
higher than anticipated development costs, production cost estimates based on information we
obtained from ongoing product development that significantly exceed our initial projections, and
increasing competition in the general aviation market for UNICORN™-like products, have
caused us to pursue the utilization of a tax-advantaged research and development partnership for
our UNICORN™ technology.
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Our UNICORN™ technology is based on a unique implementation of radar technology in an
airborne system to detect and track aircraft and detect the ground below and ahead of the
airplane. Although further research, development and testing are required, we believe that fixed
element antennas on the top and bottom of the aircraft could provide full spherical coverage for
detection of collision threats up to four nautical miles away. UNICORN™ technology would
alert pilots to a potential collision threat by both audible and visual means, and the locations of
the threat aircraft would be shown on either an existing or dedicated cockpit display.
Following a recommendation of support from the FAA in September 2002, the Federal
Communication Commission (FCC) issued us an Experimental Radio Station License facilitating
UNICORN™ antenna development on either of two frequencies: 5145 MHz in the FAA aviation
band and 3650-3700 MHz in the non-aviation band. These frequencies may be used at any of
three designated locations in the eastern U.S. until September 1, 2006. We have since filed for
an extension of the approval which, under the FCC rules allows us to continue operating under
that experimental license until September, 2008.
We acquired the UNICORN™ technology from Advanced Acoustic Concepts, Inc., (AAC), in
January 2000 in exchange for shares of our common stock. We have agreed to pay AAC a lump
sum payment of $150,000 after we receive revenues from sales of UNICORN™ products of
$1,000,000. In addition, we will pay to AAC a continuing royalty of 3% of all net sales of
UNICORN™ products thereafter.
We have initiated discussions with the federal government about the possible use of
UNICORN™ technology on Unmanned Air Vehicles, or UAV's, to perform the " detect and
avoid" function. There is increasing interest on the part of civil and military authorities in
operating UAVs in parts of the National Airspace System other than military restricted areas.
These operations could not take place unless the collision safety issue is addressed. We believe
that our UNICORN™ technology may have the potential to meet this emerging need. On April
2, 2007, we received a Phase I contract award under the Air Force Small Business Innovative
Research program to investigate the feasibility of applying the UNICORN™ technology as part
of a sense-and-avoid system on board UAVs.
A UNICORN™-based UAV collision avoidance system would contain an antenna and
computerized electronics that are similar in concept to those used in the UNICORN™ general
aviation products we have been developing. However, the audio alert and visual display would
be replaced by a computerized interface with the onboard flight control system of the UAV.
This interface would override the flight control system to cause the UAV to take evasive
maneuvers required to avoid collision with other aircraft and/or ground-based objects such as
terrain and obstructions.
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TIICM™ Tactical Integrated Illumination Countermeasure Technology
TIICM™ technology is intended to provide a low-cost, highly effective shield to protect airliners
against the threat of some terrorist missiles. TIICM™ technology represents a new concept that
provides special infrared sources mounted on wings, tail sections and along the bottom of the
aircraft fuselage sections, together with particular sequencing of these illumination sources to
both attract certain missile seeker elements and "spoof" certain threat missile guidance systems.
We were developing TIICM™ technology in conjunction with Sanders Design International
(SDI), a New Hampshire company, and Analogic Corporation, a company located in Peabody,
Massachusetts. In April, 2004, we executed a 10-year Teaming Agreement with SDI under
which we would be the prime contractor with respect to development of counter-technologies for
certain anti-aircraft heat seeking shoulder fired missiles. Under additional arrangements with
SDI, we filed an application for and would share with SDI ownership of the TIICM™
technology patent if the patent application results in an award of a new patent. A prior patent on
an earlier technology was awarded to SDI in February, 2004, which is the subject of a 2003
license agreement between SDI and Analogic Corporation. This licensing agreement may limit
our ability to earn revenue from TIICM™ technology. The legal significance of the Analogic
license agreement as it relates to our Teaming Agreement with SDI and TIICM™ technology
patent application is the subject of a lawsuit pending in federal court in Boston, Massachusetts
which asserts, among other things, that by entering the 2004 Teaming Agreement FST and SDI
infringed Analogic's rights under its 2003 license agreement with SDI.
There can be no assurance that we can successfully develop TIICM™ technology to achieve a
cost-benefit advantage against more well established and mature competing technologies, or that
we will receive any significant revenues or profits from TIICM™.
Sales and Marketing
SOCRATES® Wake Vortex Sensor and AWSM™ Technology
If and when we successfully complete research, development, and testing of our SOCRATES®
wake vortex sensor and the AWSM™ technology, our goal is to obtain FAA approval of and
support for the use of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor in an AWSM™ technology
implementation due to the growing demand for cost-effective ways to improve airport safety and
capacity and the advantages of our technology over existing alternatives. Our strategies for
selling SOCRATES® and AWSM™-based products for use in airports will include:
Ÿ Closely coordinating with the FAA, which would acquire and deploy the AWSM™ system,
including SOCRATES® technology, at United States airports,
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Ÿ Assisting airports to apply for the allocation of airport improvement grants to acquire
AWSM™ systems,
Ÿ Targeting the busiest U.S. airports, followed by airports in other countries, with a campaign
that includes informational seminars and direct marketing,
Ÿ Publicizing the advantages of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor and AWSM™ system
in promoting advanced air safety and airport productivity to members of the U.S. Congress,
aircraft manufacturers, commercial airlines, and air travel trade industry groups, and
Ÿ Soliciting FAA funding for the establishment of "beta sites" for the installation of
SOCRATES® and AWSM™ technologies at select U.S. airports (Anchorage, Miami, Louisville,
Memphis and Dallas Fort Worth).
UNICORN™ Airborne Radar Technology
During the past two years, we have become increasingly aware of an emerging requirement to
integrate collision avoidance capability into the flight control systems of unmanned aerial
vehicles (referred to by the government as "see-and-avoid" for UAV's). We believe such a
technology may in the future be able to penetrate the aviation industry when integrated with
cooperative surveillance techniques.
The present market for UAVs is almost entirely military and very limited and the potential of an
expanded market is unclear. However, the potential uses of UAV's over the next 20-30 years
could include:
Ÿ
Ÿ
Ÿ
Ÿ
Ÿ
Ÿ

Traditional military surveillance
Customs/Border patrol surveillance
Harbor/port surveillance
Regional and local law enforcement
Fire fighting
Crop dusting

It has been estimated as many as 20,000 UAV's may be employed in the US domestic airspace
over the next 20 years. If, as, and when we can complete the development and flight testing of a
UAV UNICORN™ product, we intend to market UNICORN™ to:
Ÿ
Ÿ
Ÿ

Government - Military and Department of Homeland Security users
UAV Manufacturers
Commercial UAV users

There can be no assurance that we will successfully complete the development of UNICORN™,
integrate UNICORN™ into UAV systems, or gain any market acceptance for UNICORN™ as a
UAV or general aviation product.
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TIICM™ Sales and Marketing
If, as, and when, we can successfully complete sufficient research, development and testing and
gain government approval of TIICM™ technology, we would anticipate initiating a market
strategy to include:
Ÿ Working closely with U.S. government officials to gain their support for marketing
TIICM™ to the U.S. airline fleet which consists currently of about 6,800 aircraft.
Ÿ Targeting an initial market of the smaller commercial aircraft currently employed, and the
US airline companies that operate them.
Ÿ Working with the aircraft manufacturers such as Boeing and Airbus Industries.
Ÿ Working with the Air Transport Association (ATA).
Ÿ Working with the U.S. Congress to provide appropriation funding for TIICM™.
Ÿ Extending the potential market to include international airliners.
Ÿ Extending the potential applicability of TIICM™ for use in military aircraft uses.
There can be no assurance that TIICM™ will achieve any market acceptance in any of these
uses.
Competition
SOCRATES® Wake Vortex Sensor and AWSM™ System for reducing aircraft separation
The aviation and airport safety business is very competitive. We expect competition in hazardous
weather applications and wake vortex detection and warning sensors and systems to intensify as
air travel and airport congestion continue to increase worldwide, and as public scrutiny of
aviation safety heightens. We may face competition from established companies in the aviation
systems marketplace, which are currently providing or developing technologies and products
such as Low Level Windshear Alert Systems, airborne and ground-based Doppler Radar, Lidar,
Laser Doppler Velocimetry, Terminal Doppler Weather Radar, and the Minix Winglet. These
companies include Allied Signal/Honeywell, Coherent Technologies, Northrop Equipment
Corp., Raytheon Corp., Christian Hugues and others, including our former teaming member,
Lockheed Martin. The chart below describes these alternative ground-based sensor technologies
that might compete with SOCRATES®.
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Technology

Description

Limitations

Low Level
Windshear
Alert Systems
("LLWAS")

Ÿ Detects windshears &
microbursts 50 - 150 feet above
ground
Ÿ Alerts triggered when wind
speeds are not consistent at
multiple wind sensors around
airport and runways

Ÿ Limited range
Ÿ Can be unreliable
Ÿ Early warning insufficient
since only detects windshear
in immediate vicinity

Raytheon

Commercially
Available

Doppler Radar

Ÿ Airborne and ground-based
systems
Ÿ Detect speed and location of
disturbances by reflecting
electromagnetic waves off
atmospheric particles
Ÿ Airborne and ground-based
systems
Ÿ Detect disturbances by
measuring the reflection and
scattering of a powerful infrared
pulse
Ÿ Greater accuracy than radar
Ÿ Airborne and ground-based
systems
Ÿ Measures the speed and
location of disturbances by
analyzing the frequencies of two
laser beams reflected off
atmospheric particles
Ÿ Greater range and accuracy
than radar
Ÿ Ground-based system
Ÿ Detects hazardous
atmospheric conditions in the
airport terminal area
Ÿ Detects changing winds to
give early warning of hazardous
conditions
Ÿ Highly reliable and accurate

Ÿ Often misses small
phenomena
Ÿ Limited detection range
Ÿ Need airborne rain or ice
crystals to reflect radar
Ÿ Insufficient early warning
Ÿ Does not work in clouds
Ÿ Insufficient early warning

Raytheon

Limited
Installations

Coherent
Technologies,
Inc.

Commercially
Available

Ÿ Does not work in clouds
Ÿ Insufficient early warning

None

Research and
Development

Ÿ Requires tall towers to be
installed 8-12 miles away
from airport, which are
expensive and often
encounter resistance from
residential communities
Ÿ Does not capture small
phenomena like wake
vortices
Ÿ May not address the
dominant wake vortices
created by the outer tip of the
main flap
Ÿ May adversely affect the
lift-to-drag ratio of the
aircraft
Ÿ May not work as
advertised

Raytheon

Limited
Installations

None

Research and
Development

Lidar ("Light
detection and
rangefinding")

Laser Doppler
Velocimetry

Terminal
Doppler
Weather Radar
("TDWR")

Minix Winglet

Ÿ Solid, light wing tip
attachment made of Kevlar and
carbon
Ÿ Eliminates vortex pressure
around wings
Ÿ Increases speed
Ÿ Reduces fuel consumption
Ÿ Allows aircraft to carry more
weight
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Mfr.

Status

We believe our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor and AWSM™ system may offer many
advantages over the products and technologies provided by these competitors, although further
research, development, and testing are needed to complete our sensor and make it operational.
We believe that if, as and when our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor and AWSM™ system is
fully developed and operational, these advantages may position us to penetrate the market,
particularly for a ground-based wake vortex sensor. We believe the advantages of a wake vortex
sensor based on our SOCRATES® technology and AWSM™ system will include:
Ÿ Greater reliability in foggy or cloudy weather conditions that often impede
lidar-based systems;
Ÿ Superior accuracy, even for small disturbances other systems often miss;
Ÿ Earlier warning of potential hazards;
Ÿ No need for large atmospheric particles to detect disturbances; and
Ÿ Greater cost-effectiveness and easier implementation.
UNICORN™ Technology
Competition for the "see and avoid" function in the UAV community consists of optical and
radar systems. An optical system under development by Defense Research Associates (DRA)
provides fairly accurate azimuth and elevation to the target during visual weather conditions but
little or no range information. The field of view is also limited to plus or minus 110 degrees in
azimuth and plus or minus 20 degrees in elevation. A 35 GHz radar system tested on a UAV by
the U.S. Navy is quite limited in range and also has the limited field of view.
We believe that, if and when, successfully developed and tested, our UNICORN™-based
products may offer potential advantages over currently available alternatives in the UAV and,
later, the general aviation market for small aircraft. Current competition in the general aviation
market includes the following:

Technology

Description

Transponder

9900BX Traffic
Advisory System
Monroy ATD-200

Transponder

Transponder
TCAS
Transponder
Transponder
and terrain
data base

L3-Goodrich Skywatch
Traffic Advisory System
Traffic Alert & Collision
Avoidance System
KTA 970 TCAS I
KMH 980
TCAS/EGPWS

Limitations

Mfr.

Status

Approximate
2005 Retail
Price

Ÿ Only detects transponders

Avidyne

In production

$20,990(1)

Ÿ Only detects transponders;
Ÿ Does not provide location
or time to collision
Ÿ Only detects transponders

Monroy

In production

$695(2)

Goodrich

In production

$24,630(3)

Rockwell and
Honeywell
Honeywell

In production
In production

$30,860
to 226,390(4)
$30,860

Honeywell

In production

$40,000

Ÿ Only detects transponders
Ÿ Only detects transponders
Ÿ Only detects transponders
Ÿ Uses terrain database
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Notes:
(1)

Avidyne now also features its own TAS systems using Ryan technology:
a. TAS600 Series $9,990 - $20,990 depending on performance
b. MHAS600 Series $16,985 - $34,985 including TAS600 series, XM weather, and
weather rada/EGPWS interfaces (but EGPWS system not included)
(2) Zaon Flight Systems makes similar transponder-based detection products
a. XRX provides direction, relative altitude, and range $1,795
b. MRX provides range and altitude $499
(3) Price for Skywatch HP TAS. Prices vary from $17,980 to $28,500 depending on
functionality. (TCAS I capability for $28,500)
(4) Represents range of Honeywell/Bendix-King and Rockwell Collins TCAS I and TCAS II
products
General
Our ability to compete successfully in the market for air safety products will depend on our
success in:
Ÿ Completing on a timely basis the research and development, prototyping, testing,
and production of our SOCRATES®, AWSM™, UNICORN™-based, and TIICM™
products;
Ÿ Obtaining FAA approval of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor, AWSM™ and
UNICORN™ and TIICM™ products;
Ÿ Marketing and selling our products to airports, the FAA, airlines and manufacturers
and owners of general aviation aircraft;
Ÿ Promoting awareness and acceptance of our products among members of the U.S.
Congress and other government officials, aircraft manufacturers, commercial
airlines, and air travel industry trade groups; and
Ÿ Developing and/or acquiring additional technologies and products to meet the
changing needs of the aviation industry.
If and when we successfully complete development of any of our technologies, of which there
can be no assurance, actual deployment will present us with major systems integration
challenges. Our competitors have far greater resources and experience in developing and
integrating major air safety systems that would be important in what we expect would be a
government sponsored competition to select a systems integrator. Our size, limited experience
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and limited resources would place us at a significant disadvantage in any such competition and
might require us to seek a partner or become a team member with larger companies, in which
event our role and profit opportunity may be limited. We can make no assurance of our ability to
find a partner, join a team or otherwise compete successfully to obtain commercial contracts for
deployment of any of our technologies even if we successfully complete their development.
Many of our potential competitors have longer operating histories, greater name and brand
recognition and substantially greater financial, technical, marketing, management, service,
support, and other resources than we do. Therefore, they may be better able to respond than we
can to new or changing requirements, technologies, or standards. We may not be able to
compete successfully against current or future competitors, and the competitive pressures may
materially and adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.
Government Funding
A substantial amount of our time and expenditures have been spent on the research, development
and testing of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor. A substantial portion of our funding for
research and development contracts of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor and AWSM™
technology has and is expected to continue to come from appropriations of the federal
government. These appropriations, from which we have been allocated an aggregate of
approximately $19.8 million in contract funding to date, have been earmarked by Congress for
the procuring federal agencies, FAA and NASA, for funding, monitoring and administering the
development of SOCRATES® technology and AWSM™ technology to enhance airport and
airline safety. We do not expect to receive further earmarks to fund development of our
SOCRATES® or AWSM™ technology and no such earmarks or other funds have been included
in the federal budget since U.S. fiscal year 2005. We anticipate further U.S. government funding
for development of our SOCRATES® or AWSM™ technology, of which there can be no
assurance, will occur at the direction of the FAA as part of its budgetary process.
Upon successful completion of research and development of our SOCRATES® wake vortex
sensor, we would also depend upon the FAA for procurement and installation of AWSM™
systems, including our sensor, in U.S. airports. In June 2003, the FAA approved a long-term
mission needs statement that contemplates expenditures by FAA and NASA of $206 million
during the period running from U.S. fiscal year 2003 through 2010 on wake vortex detection
research and development, including deployment of a prototype AWSM™ and culminating in
development of wake turbulence capability at selected airports and integration with controller
tools. The mission needs statement has not and may not be approved at all necessary levels of the
federal government and the federal government may not provide the funding required to complete
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the mission needs statement, which must be annually requested by the FAA, authorized and
approved by Congress, and approved by the President. There is no assurance as to what amount of
contract funding, if any, we will receive in connection with the mission needs statement. Through
U.S. fiscal year ending September 30, 2007, the FAA has not requested Congress to authorize or
appropriate these funds. The FAA has assigned an overall moderate to high risk rating to this
program due to technical unknowns and risks associated with getting controllers and pilots to
accept a ground or flight deck, or both, based system.
We believe that the federal government has indicated a long-term interest in the development of
a wake vortex avoidance system and our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor for potential
inclusion in such a system. In 2003, the federal government began an initiative to develop the
Next Generation Air Traffic System (NGATS). NGATS is intended to be a more flexible and
automated system "capable of meeting up to two or three times the current capacity demand by
the year 2025". The federal government's Joint Planning and Development Office (JPDO)
oversees a coalition of government agencies which are involved in developing NGATS,
including the U.S. Departments of Transportation, Defense, Homeland Security and Commerce
and the FAA, NASA and White House Office of Science and Technology Policy. These
organizations have developed a "roadmap" that defines the technologies that must be developed
and implemented in order to achieve the goals of NGATS. Among those technologies are
systems which allow for enhanced safety as well as increased throughput of air traffic at airports
through reduction of the applied spacing between aircraft. This reduction will be accomplished,
in part, "based on ground-based wake vortex detection and prediction," and according to the
road-map is expected to be implemented and tested in the U.S. fiscal years 2008-2011
timeframe.
To our knowledge, the FAA has no plans to apply sufficient resources to the development of a
WVAS incorporating both prediction and detection in time for implementation and testing in the
timeframe called for by the NGATS roadmap. This disparity between the roadmap and FAA
budgeting has been noted in Congressional communications to the FAA and we expect will be
the subject of future discussions between the FAA and Congress, although there can be no
assurances as to the pace or outcome of any such discussions.
The U.S. government may terminate any government contract at any time if it determines such
termination is in the best interests of the government or may terminate, reduce or modify it
because of budgetary constraints or any change in the government's requirements. Furthermore,
the federal government may hold, reduce or eliminate future funding for research and
development of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor or AWSM™ technology as a result of a
reduction in support or opposition from supervising agencies, changes in budgetary priorities or
decisions to fund competing systems or components of systems. When this occurs, it reduces
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our resources available for research and development of our proprietary technologies, new
products or enhancements to our SOCRATES®, AWSM™, UNICORN™ or TIICM™
technologies and to market our products. Reduction of funding from the federal government has
delayed and in the future could continue to delay development of our technologies and
achievement of or increases in profitability, create a substantial strain on our liquidity, resources,
and product development, and have a material adverse effect on the progress of our research and
development and our financial condition.
Our Intellectual Property and Technology
SOCRATES® Technology
We intend to rely on a combination of patent protection, trademark protection, trade secret
protection, copyright protection, and confidentiality agreements to protect our intellectual
property rights. We have received a United States patent relating to our SOCRATES®
technology (US Patent No. 6,034,760 issued on March 7, 2000). We have received patents on
the SOCRATES® technology in Australia, Canada, China, Democratic Peoples Republic of
Korea, Israel, New Zealand, Norway, and Turkey. We have corresponding patent applications,
based upon the United States application, for a patent on our SOCRATES® technology pending
in Japan and the European Patent Organization. There can be no assurance any patent will issue
from these pending applications. We also may apply to federally register various copyrights for
our software and documentation with the United States Copyright Office and abroad.
Our SOCRATES® technology patent, includes two fundamental claims: a method claim and an
apparatus claim. The method claim covers a laser device that produces an optical beam, directs
that beam into the atmosphere and measures the effect of sound waves on the beam as an
indicator of hazardous weather conditions that have produced those sound waves in the
atmosphere. The apparatus claim covers the apparatus for performing the method claim. Both
of these claims cover systems that are mounted either directly on the front of an aircraft or on the
ground adjacent to a runway.
We have taken certain steps to preserve our rights in our SOCRATES®-related technologies
under our contracts with the federal government. However, as under any government funded
research and development contract, the Federal Acquisition Regulations provide that the federal
government may have paid-up rights to use our SOCRATES®-related technologies under certain
circumstances.
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On April 26, 2004, in conjunction with the renewal of a nondisclosure agreement, we were
advised by Lockheed Martin Corporation that it owns a certain patent which predates our
SOCRATES® patent and, according to Lockheed Martin Corporation, contains some intellectual
property related to our SOCRATES® patent. We have conducted discussions with Lockheed
Martin Corporation on this issue and other unresolved issues. We cannot predict or provide any
assurance on the outcome of these discussions and whether any outcome will be satisfactory to
us.
Also, our SOCRATES® trademark is now registered on the Principal Register, having
Registration No. 2,967,386.
We filed a Patent Application with the United States Patent and Trademark Office in April 2006
for a method and apparatus for focused detection of hazardous atmospheric conditions, which is
different in certain important technical respects from the earlier patent on SOCRATES®
technology. This patent application comprises a system that can detect, via acoustic sensing,
conditions in the atmosphere that are hazardous to aircraft that approach or depart from airport
runways. There can be no assurance that any patent will result from our filing.
UNICORN™ Technology
We also have received a United States patent relating to our UNICORN™ technology (US
Patent No. 6,211,808 issued on April 3, 2001 and re-issued as U.S. Patent No. RE 39,053 on
April 4, 2006). We have received patents on the UNICORN™ technology in Australia, Canada,
and New Zealand. We have a corresponding patent application, based upon the United States
application, for a patent on our UNICORN™ technology pending in Japan. However, there can
be no assurance any patent will result from this pending application. We also may apply to
federally register various copyrights for our software and documentation with the United States
Copyright Office and abroad.
Our UNICORN™ technology patent includes claims which cover a collision avoidance airborne
radar system. The invention incorporates a unique antenna design which provides threedimensional surveillance to provide collision warning as well as ground proximity and terrain
avoidance alerting to the pilot.
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It selectively uses each microwave sector as a way to determine the direction of any received
radar echo from another close-by aircraft or the ground below or terrain ahead that poses a
potential threat within that coverage. Controlling the integration of these functions permits
detection of several almost simultaneous potential threat encounters. The claims cover any
UNICORN™-based system whose antenna may be fabricated in an equivalent way and
subdivided for low drag-profile mounting above and below the fuselage of an aircraft. The
UNICORN™ system is fully independent, in that, unlike most other collision avoidance systems
in current use, it does not require that other aircraft in the vicinity have a cooperative warning
system such as a transponder beacon.
Also, we re-applied for federal protection of our UNICORN™ trademark in the United States in
July 2006. We have received a Notice of Allowance from the United States Patent and
Trademark Office.
We filed a Patent Application with the United States Patent and Trademark Office in November
2005 for a collision alerting and avoidance system, which is different in certain important
technical respects from the earlier patent on UNICORN™ technology. This patent application is
for a collision alerting and avoidance system that utilizes an antenna array configured to operate
with a "sing-around" transmitter/receiver to detect obstacles in its field of view. The collision
alerting and avoidance system is useful for general aviation aircraft, as well as for unmanned
aerial vehicles (UAVs) and marine vehicles. We have received a Notice of Allowance from the
United States Patent and Trademark Office. A corresponding Patent Cooperation Treaty
application was filed in November 2005. We have corresponding patent applications, based
upon the United States application, pending in the Democratic Peoples Republic of Korea,
European Patent Organization and Japan. However, there can be no assurance any patents will
result from these pending applications. We also may apply to federally register various
copyrights for our software and documentation with the United States Copyright Office and
abroad.
TIICM™ Technology
We filed a Patent Application with the United States Patent and Trademark Office in September
2005 relating to our TIICM™ (Tactical Integrated Illuminating Countermeasure) technology in
conjunction with Sanders Design International (SDI), (a New Hampshire company). TIICM™ is
intended to provide a low-cost, highly effective shield to protect airliners against the threat of
certain terrorist missiles. Under our arrangement with SDI, we will share ownership of the
TIICM™ patent, if the application results in a new patent award. There can be no assurance that
any patent will result from our TIICM™ filing. We filed an application to obtain a federal
trademark on TIICM™ in July 2005. The application was approved for publication but was
subject to an Opposition Proceeding. The Opposition Proceeding has been terminated under
agreement with the opposing party.
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We also filed a Patent Application with the United States Patent and Trademark Office in April
2007 for a central laser source based passive countermeasure system. This patent application is
for a central laser source based passive countermeasure system used on an emission producing
asset that utilizes a central laser source to produce optical energy. There can be no assurance that
any patent will result from our filing.
AWSM™ Technology
We filed a Patent Application with the United States Patent and Trademark Office in June 2007
for an aircraft wake safety management system. This patent application is for an aircraft wake
safety management system that predicts wake vortex behavior and determines if the wake vortex
pair generated by a lead aircraft is in the flight path of a following aircraft. There can be no
assurance any patents will result from these pending applications. We also may apply to
federally register various copyrights for our software and documentation with the United States
Copyright Office and abroad.
Also, we applied for federal protection of our AWSM™ trademark in the United States in
November 2006. We have received a Notice of Allowance from the United States Patent and
Trademark Office.
Government Approval and Regulations
The airport and airline industry is subject to extensive government oversight and regulation. To
introduce a product for commercial sale, we must successfully complete research, development,
and testing of the product and obtain necessary governmental approvals for installation of the
product in airports or aircraft. For our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensors, the FAA must
commission it and AWSM™ technology for use in the National Airspace System. As
UNICORN™ and TIICM™ technologies are airborne systems, they must be FAA certified for
use on aircraft. Any factor that delays or adversely affects this process, including delays in
development or difficulty in obtaining federal government approval of the product, could
adversely affect our business, financial condition, or results of operations.
Additionally, as a result of receiving funding from the federal government, our business and
operations are subject to numerous government laws and regulations. In the near term, and for so
long as we receive funding from the federal government, we will be subject to many
procurement and accounting rules and regulations of the federal government. We are also subject
to periodic audits by the Defense Contract Audit Agency. To date, we have completed seven
audits and reports have been issued to our government customer which have stated that we are
performing in full accordance with Federal Acquisitions Regulations.

20

Employees
As of May 31, 2007, we had eight full-time and four part-time employees. Our employees are
not members of a union, and we are not aware of any efforts on their part to form or join a union.
We believe that our relationship with our employees is good.
Item 2. Description of Property.
Our primary offices, located in Mystic, Connecticut, are leased at a monthly rate of $2,755. We
also utilize satellite office space that we lease or use on a month to month basis pursuant to the
following arrangements with the following parties: (i) Baltimore, Maryland leased from our
executive vice president and director, Frank L. Rees, at $500 per month through December 31,
2006 and presently at no charge; (ii) Austin, Texas space provided without charge by our
president and director, William B. Cotton; and (iii) North Kingston, Rhode Island leased from
The Meadows Professional Office Park on an annual basis at a monthly rate of $1,240; and (iv)
Lancaster, Pennsylvania space provided without charge by our Senior Engineer Robert L.
Cooperman, (v) office space in Denver, Colorado at $500 per month. We believe that our
facilities are adequate to satisfy our projected requirements and that additional space will be
available if needed.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
Several lawsuits have been filed in the United States District Court for the District of
Connecticut, by purchasers of our common stock naming us, certain of our executive officers,
and certain underwriters, who sold shares of our common stock to the public, as defendants. The
suits assert claims under Section 10b of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5
promulgated thereunder and under Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933 and breach of
fiduciary duty. The complaints allege, among other things, that we failed to disclose material
details from a report circulated by Volpe in October 2001, which generally concerned the
timetable and our prospects for achieving operational viability of the SOCRATES® wake vortex
sensor. The plaintiffs seek unspecified damages on behalf of a purported class of purchasers of
our securities. The cases were consolidated by the Court into one action and lead counsel was
appointed by the Court. In 2006, we moved to dismiss all claims. The Court has not ruled on
the motion yet.
On June 28, 2006, we received notice that Analogic Corporation filed a lawsuit against us and
our CEO and Sanders Design International (SDI) and its principals over alleged contractual
interference relating to development of TIICM™ countermanpads technology on which SDI and
we have filed a joint patent application. Analogic's lawsuit, among other things, asserts that we
and SDI infringed Analogic's rights under a 2003 license agreement between SDI and Analogic
by entering into a teaming agreement in 2004 and filing the joint patent application on TIICM™
in 2005. We have filed affirmative defenses and a counterclaim against Analogic and its former
president.
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We firmly believe that the claims contained in these lawsuits are without merit and intend to
conduct a vigorous defense in these matters. These lawsuits could be time-consuming and costly
and could divert the attention of our management. These lawsuits or any future lawsuits filed
against us could harm our business.
As previously reported, we learned in December 2003 that the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission staff was conducting an informal investigation which appeared to be
looking into certain analyst reports about us, and our press releases. The Commission staff did
not assert that we acted improperly or illegally and we voluntarily cooperated fully with the
staff's informal investigation. We believe that we acted properly and legally with respect to these
analyst reports and our press releases. On August 22, 2006, we received notification from the
Commission that it has terminated its informal investigation of us with no enforcement action
recommended.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.
None.

PART II
Item 5. Market for Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters.
Market Information
On January 30, 2004, our common stock became eligible to trade on the American Stock
Exchange, or AMEX, under the symbol FLT. As of May 31, 2007, we had 8,235,210 shares of
common stock outstanding, of which 6,694,276 shares trade on the AMEX. The following chart
shows the high and low sales price of our common stock for each of our fiscal quarters as quoted
on the AMEX:
Fiscal Quarter

High

Low

8/31/05
11/30/05
2/28/06
5/31/06
8/31/06
11/30/06
2/28/07
5/31/07

$1.64
$3.90
$3.19
$2.88
$2.74
$2.60
$1.86
$2.40

$1.21
$1.35
$2.00
$2.05
$2.20
$1.16
$1.08
$1.60
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As of May 31, 2007, we had 89 record holders of our common stock, as reflected on the books of
our transfer agent. A significant number of shares were held in street name and, as such, we
believe that the actual number of beneficial owners is significantly higher.
Equity Compensation Plans
We adopted the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan in October 2005. Under the terms of the 2005 Plan,
all of our employees, directors, consultants and advisors are eligible to be granted options,
restricted stock awards, or other stock-based awards. Under the 2005 Plan, a total of 1,500,000
shares of our common stock are available for issuance, of which 46,400 shares remain available
for future awards as of May 31, 2007. In addition, the shareholder vote that approved the 2005
Plan also approved previous awards totaling 570,000 shares of our common stock.
The Compensation Committee of our board of directors, in its discretion, selects the person(s) to
whom stock based awards may be granted, the time or times at which such awards shall be
granted, the number of shares subject to each such grant, and the term of the award. The
exercise price of options granted under the 2005 Plan is determined by the Committee at the time
the options are granted but may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the common
stock on the date such option is granted; provided, however, the exercise price of an incentive
stock option granted to a 10% or greater shareholder may not be less than 110% of the fair
market value of the common stock on the date such option is granted.
Options granted under the 2005 Plan expire no later than ten (10) years from the date of grant;
provided that in the case of an incentive stock option granted to a 10% shareholder, the term of
the option may be no more than five (5) years from the date of grant. No option may be
exercised after the expiration of its term.
Our Board also approved the issuance of up to a total of 114,000 shares of our common stock,
which was held in treasury, to our two lobbyists, who include Jackson Kemper, one of our
directors. These shares are not registered for public trading and are subject to the restrictions
under Rule 144 promulgated by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
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The table below provides information relating to our equity compensation plans as of May 31,
2007.

Plan category
Equity compensation
plans approved by
shareholders
Equity compensation
plans not approved by
security shareholders (a)

Number of securities
to be issued upon
exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Weighted-average
price of outstanding
options, warrants
and rights

Number of securities remaining
available for future issuance
under compensation plans
(excluding securities reflected
in first column)

2,023,600

$3.50

46,400

31,249

6.00

(a)

(a) The equity compensation plan not approved by shareholders is comprised of individual
common stock option agreements issued to directors, prior to the adoption of the Company's
current stock option plan. The common stock options vest between one and three years of the
date of issue and expire within three years of the vesting date. The exercise prices of the current
outstanding options are $6.00 per share.
Options issued to:
Directors
Total issued

Number of options
31,249
31,249

Exercise price
$6.00

Vesting dates
2003-2005

Expiration dates
2006-2008

Dividends
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. For the foreseeable
future, we intend to retain any earnings to finance the development and expansion of our
business, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock. Any future
determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will be
dependent upon then existing conditions, including our financial condition and results of
operations, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, business prospects, and other factors
that our board of directors considers relevant.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
There have been no sales of unregistered securities within the last three years which would be
required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 701 of Regulation S-B.
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Item 6. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.
Cautionary Statement Pursuant to Safe Harbor Provisions of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995:
Except for the historical information presented in this document, the matters discussed in this
quarterly report on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 or otherwise
incorporated by reference into this document, contain "forward-looking statements" (as such
term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995). These statements are
identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as "believes", "plans", "intend",
"scheduled", "potential", "continue", "estimates", "hopes", "goal", "objective", expects", "may",
"will", "should" or "anticipates" or the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable
terminology, or by discussions of strategy that involve risks and uncertainties. The safe harbor
provisions of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A
of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, apply to forward-looking statements made by us. We
caution you that no statements contained in this Form 10-KSB should be construed as a
guarantee or assurance of future performance or results. These forward-looking statements
involve risks and uncertainties, which include risks and uncertainties associated with, among
other things, the outcome of pending class action litigation alleging violations of federal
securities laws, the outcome of Massachusetts federal district court litigation initiated by
Analogic Corporation concerning our TIICM™ technology, whether the government will
implement wake vortex advisory system at all or with the inclusion of a SOCRATES® wake
vortex sensor, the impact of competitive products and pricing, limited visibility into future
product demand, slower economic growth generally, difficulties inherent in the development of
complex technology, new products sufficiency, availability of capital to fund operations,
research and development, fluctuations in operating results, and these and other risks are
discussed in the "Known Trends, Risks and Uncertainties" section Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations of this Form 10-KSB. The actual
results that we achieve may differ materially from any forward-looking statements due to such
risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements are based on current expectations,
and, except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update this information whether as a
result of new information, future events or otherwise. Readers are urged to carefully review and
consider the various disclosures made by us in this Form 10-KSB and in our other reports filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission that attempt to advise interested parties of the
risks and factors that may affect our business.
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Overview
Our operations to date have been funded substantially by U.S. Congressional appropriations
resulting in four successive sole source contracts with agencies of the federal government for
research, development, and testing of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor and related work
pertaining to a wake vortex advisory system, sometimes referred to as WVAS, that National
Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) has been developing. We estimate the
appropriations to the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) totaled approximately $9.6 million
in U.S. fiscal years ended September 30, 1997 through September 30, 2000 for research and
development of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor; and appropriations to NASA for research
and development of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor totaled approximately $18.5 million
in U.S. fiscal years ended September 30, 2001 through September 30, 2005. To date the total
government appropriations for SOCRATES® and WVAS is approximately $28.1 million. From
these amounts, we have received four contracts aggregating approximately $19.8 million in
funding and as of May 31, 2007, we have recognized an aggregate of approximately $19.8
million of contract revenue. Our current SOCRATES® government contract backlog as of May
31, 2007 is $0. The balance of the government appropriations from 1997 to 2005 of
approximately $8.3 million has funded the FAA and NASA program management and technical
participation in the development of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor and AWSM™
technology.
We have entered into these contracts with the Volpe National Transportation Systems Center of
the U.S. Department of Transportation (Volpe). Volpe funds our contracts when, as, and if it and
other sponsoring federal agencies approve a statement of work and specific task orders under the
statement of work. When funded, we invoice the federal government monthly based on our
direct costs, including overhead and general and administrative plus a fixed fee for that month
and typically receive payment by electronic wire transfer within two weeks of invoicing. Certain
costs, such as lobbying, product development, and business development expenses that are not
allowable under these contracts, research and development costs we incur over certain cost caps
set by the U.S. government, costs incurred while our contracts are not funded, or costs deemed
unreasonable, and hence unrecoverable, by the government are not reimbursable under our
government contracts and have been funded primarily by proceeds of our equity offerings. All
of our government contracts and funding are subject to the requirements of the Federal
Acquisition Regulations.
On September 25, 2005, we received our fourth successive contract from Volpe in the aggregate
amount of approximately $9.8 million to continue research, development and testing of our
SOCRATES® and AWSM™ technologies. The initial task order funding under this new
contract provided approximately $1.7 million of contract funding to us and was dated September
25, 2005. On January 27, 2006 we received our second task order under this new contract which
provided approximately $1.4 million of additional funding.
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The second task order funding was completely expended as of December 31, 2006. Our ability
to generate additional revenue under our Phase IV contract is subject to further U.S. government
funding and the issuance of additional task orders of which there can be no assurance. If
additional funding becomes available under the Phase IV contract, the remaining amount of $6.7
million can be funded with new task orders which generally require less administrative effort
than a new contract award. No such task orders have been requested or are being processed at
the present time.
The table below represents the U.S. Government funding to date for our four SOCRATES®
contracts.
SOCRATES®
Phase

Contract
Number

Contract
Funding

I

DTRS-57-97-C-00042

$3,019,355

From June 1, 1997
To
July 31, 1999

II

DTRS-57-99-D-00074

$6,062,948

From August 27, 1999
To
December 31, 2003

III

DTRS-57-03-D-30024

$7,617,165

From November 1, 2003
To
October 15, 2005

IV

DTRT-57-05-D-30115
Task Order No: T0001

$1,695,029

From September 15, 2005
To
March 31, 2006

DTRT-57-05-D-30115
Task Order No: T0002

$1,409,025

From January 27, 2006
To
December 31, 2006

Total contract funding to date

Period of
Performance

$19,803,522

We believe that the federal government has indicated a long-term interest in the development of
a wake vortex avoidance system and our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor for potential
inclusion in such a system. In 2003, the federal government began an initiative to develop the
Next Generation Air Traffic System (NGATS). NGATS is intended to be a more flexible and
automated system "capable of meeting up to two or three times the current capacity demand by
the year 2025". The federal government's Joint Planning and Development Office (JPDO)
oversees a coalition of government agencies which are involved in developing NGATS,
including the U.S. Departments of Transportation, Defense, Homeland Security and Commerce
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and the FAA, NASA and White House Office of Science and Technology Policy. These
organizations have developed a "roadmap" that defines the technologies that must be developed
and implemented in order to achieve the goals of NGATS. Among those technologies are
systems which allow for enhanced safety as well as increased throughput of air traffic at airports
through reduction of the applied spacing between aircraft. This reduction will be accomplished,
in part, "based on ground-based wake vortex detection and prediction," expected to be
implemented and tested in the U.S. fiscal years 2008-2011 timeframe.
To our knowledge, the FAA has no plans to apply sufficient resources to the development of a
WVAS incorporating both prediction and detection in time for implementation and testing in the
timeframe called for by the NGATS roadmap. This disparity between the roadmap and FAA
budgeting has been noted in Congressional communications to the FAA and we expect will be
the subject of future discussions between the FAA and Congress, although there can be no
assurances as to the pace or outcome of any such discussions.
There were no stipulated earmarks or other sources of funding in the U.S. fiscal year 2006 and
fiscal year 2007 budget for further testing and development of SOCRATES®-based technology.
In the FAA budget request submitted to the U.S. Congress for fiscal year 2008, which
commences October 1, 2007, a total of $13.755 million is specified for wake vortex research and
development. Although this represents a threefold increase over previous FAA budget
modifications for wake vortex research, there is no assurance that we will receive any of these
funds, even if approved by the U.S. Congress and the President. We are continuing to explore
additional funding opportunities from potential sources in the NASA and/or U.S. Department of
Transportation (DOT) budgets and from the private sector for research and development of
SOCRATES® and AWSM™ technologies, but can make no assurances of whether or when we
will obtain such additional funding. Our inability to obtain or any delay in such contract funding
for research and development of SOCRATES® and AWSM™ technologies from the federal
government or other sources has delayed and could continue to delay further research,
development and testing; could eliminate or continue to delay achievement of profitability, if
any; has created a substantial strain on our liquidity, resources and product development; and has
had a material adverse effect on the progress of our technology research and development and
our financial condition.
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We also are pursuing development of an airborne collision and ground proximity warning system
for aircraft that we refer to as UNICORN™. We believe that UNICORN™ may have application
to manned and unmanned air vehicles operated for a variety of private and governmental purposes.
As of fiscal year ended May 31, 2007, our direct cumulative research and development expenses
for UNICORN™ total approximately $1,318,000. During August 2005 we tested a UNICORN™
prototype antenna in a proof-of-principle test. The data collected from this test has been analyzed
and the results were favorable. Since that time, our research, testing and development activities on
UNICORN™ activity have been limited, while we evaluated the market for this technology and
pursued financing for it. In November, 2006, we engaged a placement agent to assist us in
pursuing a tax advantaged joint venture financing to complete the research and development of our
UNICORN™ technology for general aviation aircraft and unmanned aerial vehicles (UAV's). In
support of this effort we have incurred cumulative expenses for legal fees, placement agent fees,
market assessment and business planning expenses of approximately $380,000. The original
engaged placement agent agreement has been cancelled and we have engaged a new placement
agent, to secure this financing. The market assessment was prepared by Charles River Associates
based in Boston, Massachusetts. There can be no guarantee or assurance that we will complete a
financing to fund our UNICORN™ technology research and development. If we do not complete
such a financing, we will continue to pursue private and federal government funding to develop
UNICORN™ UAV applications. On April 2, 2007, we received an Air Force contract to begin
the research and development of UNICORN™ for UAV's. This contract is for approximately
$99,000 and has a nine month period of performance.
During our fiscal year 2005, we also began the exploratory development of a third major
technology initiative called TIICM™ (Tactical Integrated Illuminating Countermeasure) in
conjunction with Sanders Design International (SDI), a New Hampshire company. TIICM™
technology is intended to provide a low cost yet highly effective shield of protection for airliners
against the threat of certain terrorist-launched missiles. In April 2004, we executed a ten year
Teaming Agreement with SDI under which we would be the prime contractor on development of
countermeasure technologies to protect aircraft from shoulder-fired missiles. As of fiscal year
ended May 31, 2007 our cumulative direct independent research and development expense for
TIICM™ technology is approximately $700,000. We have entered into additional arrangements
with SDI pursuant to which we have applied for a new patent on TIICM™ technology with SDI
and would have joint ownership of any resulting patent. In the Department of Homeland Security
budget for U.S. fiscal year 2006, Congress added $10 million for the investigation of emerging
technology for the protection of civil aircraft against terrorist missile threats. SDI expects to
receive $1 million in funding from an extension to their Phase II Small Business Innovative
Research (SBIR) contract with the U.S. Air Force for further TIICM™ technology research and
development. This funding is expected to come half from the U.S. Air Force and half from the
Department of Homeland Security. There can be no assurance that any new patents on TIICM™
technology will be issued, or that we will derive any revenue or profit from TIICM™
technology, nor any expectation that we will receive any government or commercial funding for
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TIICM™ technology. Prospects for development of TIICM™ technology may be adversely
influenced by pending litigation that Analogic Corporation, which previously had supported
development of TIICM™, brought against us and SDI. We have curtailed development activities
on TIICM™ technology pending resolution of this lawsuit and can make no assurance as to how,
if or when it will be resolved.
We have experienced significant losses since our inception. The loss for the fiscal year ended
May 31, 2007 was approximately $2,788,000. Losses for the fiscal years ending May 31, 2006,
and 2005, were approximately $2,258,000, and $1,412,000, respectively. The loss for the fiscal
year ending May 31, 2005 was caused by: (1) unallowable expenses under our government
contract, (2) expenses during a partially unfunded period, and (3) unrecoverable and/or
unabsorbed operating expenses. The loss for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2006 and the fiscal
year ended May 31, 2007 was caused by (1) unallowable expenses under our government
contract, (2) contract cost overruns, (3) unrecoverable and unabsorbed operating expenses, and
(4) corporate research and development expenses. The unrecoverable expense category
represents general and administrative expenses, primarily legal expenses and independent
research and development expense which we believe are necessary but are significantly higher
compared to prior years and may be considered unreasonable by the Defense Contract Audit
Agency for a company our size.
Our Phase III and Phase IV government contracts do not include rate ceilings. If we obtain
government funding, and the government deems our allowable expenses to be reasonable, of
which there can be no assurance, the absence of rate ceilings should eliminate or reduce a
significant source of losses in previous years. We will continue to incur certain unallowable
expenses or allowable expenses the government deems unreasonable. We also remain subject to
the risk of further delay, reduction or elimination in federal contract funding. However, it is our
view that the elimination of rate ceilings is a significant improvement to our historical contract
terms.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our
financial statements that have been prepared according to accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. In preparing these financial statements, we are
required to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We evaluate
these estimates on an on-going basis. We base these estimates on historical experiences and on
various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities.
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Our
management has discussed these estimates and assumptions with our finance and audit
committee. Subjective judgments may have a material impact on our financial statements,
including recoverability of inventory and intangible assets and insurance claims receivable.
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In addition, Federal Acquisitions Regulations require that, among other things, our reimbursable
costs are reasonable. We have analyzed our actual overhead rate and general administrative rate
for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007. We believe all component costs have been ordinary and
necessary but that government auditors may consider some of our selling, general and
administrative expenses for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 unreasonable for a company our
size. For rate setting purposes, we have excluded approximately $1,500,000 for potential
unrecoverable selling, general and administrative, research and development, and certain other
expenses, i.e., unabsorbed operating expenses, for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007. Since
there is a degree of subjectivity in the judgment of what levels of cost are reasonable, we can
make no assurance that the government will not require further adjustments.
Results of Operations
FLIGHT SAFETY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
For the Years Ended May 31, 2007 and May 31, 2006
May 31,
2007

($ nearest 000 )
Contract Revenues
Cost of Revenues
Gross Profit
Operating Expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Loss from Operations
Other Income (Expense)
Interest income
Gain (Loss) on investments available for sale
Loss before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net Loss

$ 1,547,000
1,338,000
209,000

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Unrealized gains (loss) on investments
Less: reclassification adjustment for (gain)
loss included in net loss
Comprehensive Loss
Net Loss Per Share
Basic and diluted
Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding
Basic and diluted

$

3,870,000
2,369,000
1,501,000

130,000
3,043,000
91,000
3,264,000
(3,055,000)

1,054,000
2,593,000
108,000
3,755,000
(2,254,000)

241,000
12,000
(2,802,000)
(14,000)
(2,788,000)

284,000
(262,000)
(2,232,000)
25,000
(2,257,000)

12,000

(98,000)

(12,000)
$(2,788,000)

262,000
$(2,093,000)

$

(.34)

8,216,416
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May 31,
2006

$

(.27)

8,215,168

Revenues. To date, the majority of our revenues have consisted of revenues earned from our
four successive SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor research and development contracts with the
federal government. In addition, during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 we had revenue of
$370,000 and for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2006 we had revenue of $155,000, generated for
hydrodynamic software development provided to companies in the maritime industry. The
current backlog for these services is $66,000.
Government contract revenue for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 was $1,177,000 compared
to $3,715,000 for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2006. The $2,538,000 decrease in government
contract revenue for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 compared to the prior year was due
primarily to the availability of government funding for the significant effort we undertook in the
prior year period to prepare a 16 beam SOCRATES® system for testing, the actual testing of the
system and collecting and analyzing the data from the test and the lack of government or other
funding to sustain continued research, development and testing of the SOCRATES® system
during our fiscal year ended May 31, 2007.
Costs of Revenues. Subcontractor, consultant and direct labor costs comprise our costs of
revenues. Costs of revenue for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 was $1,338,000, compared to
$2,369,000 for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2006. The decrease in cost of revenues is primarily
due to the decrease in direct labor, subcontractor, and consultant costs that were associated with
development of the 16 beam system during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2006. The increase in
the cost of revenue as a percent of revenue during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 is due to
lack of government contract funding and cost overruns of $466,000 primarily for subcontractor,
consultant, and direct labor costs that we incurred to complete a canned emulation of our
AWSM™ technology. Contract overruns in 2006 totaled $126,000.
When our government contract is funded, charges to direct costs do not generally negatively
impact our operating results because each contract covers its own direct costs. However, during
periods when our government contract is not funded or if the actual direct cost of a specific task
order exceeds its budgeted funding and the government is not willing to reallocate direct costs
between task orders, any such costs we may incur are cost overruns, which are not reimbursable
and must be funded from our own resources.
Research and Development. Our research and development expense for the year ended May 31,
2007 was $130,000 compared to a $1,054,000 for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2006. The
decrease in research and development expenses of $924,000 for the fiscal year ended May 31,
2007 was primarily due to the decrease of $599,000 of research and development expense for
TIICM™ technology (Tactical Integrated Illumination Countermeasure) for the fiscal year ended
May 31, 2007 compared to May 31, 2006 and a decrease of $389,000 in the cost of research and
development of our UNICORN™ technology for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007. We are
waiting to see if we will be able to raise funding for UNICORN™ technology
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through a joint venture between us and private investors before we determine whether to
continue the project and incur further research and development expenses for UNICORN™
technology. However, as of this date the agreement with the previously selected placement agent
for the private placement has been terminated and we have engaged a new placement agent, to
raise the funding for the development of UNICORN™ technology. We are also waiting to see if
there is an out of court solution with the Analogic Corporation to terminate the Analogic lawsuit
before we continue any further development of TIICM™ technology.
In addition, our research and development expenses were $64,000 for the development of our
AWSM™ technology and the cost associated with preparing for a live emulation test of our
SOCRATES® technology. The related cost was $0 for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2006.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. As a federal government contractor we are
required to categorize selling, general and administrative expenses as allowable or unallowable.
Unallowable expenses are defined in the Federal Acquisition Regulations (FAR) and include
lobbying expense, stock based compensation, certain investor relations expenses, legal and
professional expenses for defense of lawsuits and intellectual property issues, company car
expense, advertising, and travel expense over the government per-diem rates. Unallowable
expenses are not reimbursable by the federal government. Allowable and unallowable selling
general and administrative expenses for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 and 2006 are
detailed as follows:
($ nearest 000 )

May 31,
2007

May 31,
2006

Unallowable
Selling, general & administrative expenses
Stock based compensation
Legal and professional
Lobbying
All other
Total

$ 90,000
639,000
175,000
152,000
$1,056,000

$ 5,000
209,000
171,000
171,000
$556,000

Allowable
Selling, general & administrative expenses
General and administrative salaries and wages
Business development salaries and wages
Business development travel
Employee benefits
Legal and professional
Insurance
All other
Total
Total selling, general and administrative expenses

$ 490,000
232,000
178,000
483,000
163,000
128,000
313,000
$1,987,000
$3,043,000

$ 407,000
131,000
97,000
479,000
390,000
148,000
385,000
$2,037,000
$2,593,000
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Allowable General and Administrative Salaries and Wages: The increase for the fiscal year
ended May 31, 2007 in general and administrative salary and wages is primarily due to the
addition of an office manager for our Austin, Texas office, increased requirements for our
Mystic, Connecticut office manager and accounting staff and a full twelve months of expense for
our General Counsel, Vice President of Administration and Corporate Secretary compared to
eleven months of such expense for the same periods in our fiscal year 2006.
Allowable Business Development Salaries and Wages and Travel: The combined increase for
business development of $182,000 for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 compared to May 31,
2006, was due to our efforts to secure additional funding for our four technologies,
SOCRATES®, UNICORN™, TIICM™, and AWSM™, and included presentations to industry
and government agencies in Boston, Massachusetts, Washington, D.C., Memphis, Tennessee,
and Anchorage, Alaska, as well as trade shows in Oshkosh, Wisconsin, Farnborough
International Air Show in England, and the Paris Air-Show in France. Also included are the
expenses for business development trips to Dubai and Singapore.
Allowable Employee Benefits: Total salaries and wages, which includes direct labor for contract
and research and development labor, was $1,293,000 for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007
compared to $1,240,000 for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2006. Employee benefits as a percent
of total salary and wages was 37.3% and 38.6% for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 and May
31, 2006 respectfully. The difference is not significant.
Allowable Legal and Professional: Allowable legal and professional fees decreased for the fiscal
year ended May 31, 2007 compared to the fiscal year ended May 31, 2006 due to approximately
$430,000 of certain legal and consulting fees which have been reclassified to unallowable
expense for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007.
The operating losses for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 and May 31, 2006 are primarily due
to four unreimbursable non-contract costs: 1) Unallowable expenses, 2) contract cost overruns,
3) unrecoverable and unabsorbed operating expenses, and 4) corporate research and development
primarily for TIICM™ technology. These non-contract costs are not reimbursable under our
U.S. government contracts and must be paid from other sources, primarily proceeds from the
public and private sales of our equity securities.
Non-contract costs have been the primary use of this source of liquidity and have had a
significant impact on our operating loss to date. Our non-contract costs are detailed below:
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May 31,
2007
1.
2.
3.
4.

Unallowable, selling, general and
administrative expenses
Contract cost overruns
Unabsorbed operating expenses
Corporate research and development
Total

May 31,
2006

$1,056,000
466,000
1,509,000
19,000

$556,000
126,000
1,033,000
626,000

$3,050,000

$2,341,000

Below is a discussion and analysis of the non-contract cost categories listed above.
(1) Unallowable, Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. The primary reasons for the
increase in unallowable expenses of $500,000 for the fiscal year ending May 31, 2007 compared
to 2006 was due to the legal fees and consulting fees for the preparation of the UNICORN™
private placement memorandum (PPM) and the legal fees for the companies defense of the
Analogic lawsuit. The timing of the UNICORN™ PPM preparations was primarily from January
2006 to November 2006.
(2) Contract Cost Overruns. Contract cost overruns for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007
represent direct labor, overhead, subcontractor and consulting expense, in excess of the contract
funding to complete tasks for program management, concept of operations and technical
remediation as part of Task Order No T0001 and T0002 of our current government contract. The
contract cost overruns for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2006 represents cost in excess of
funding for task order #T0001.
(3) Unabsorbed Operating Expenses. Unabsorbed operating expenses are primarily allowable
selling, general and administrative expenses plus other recoverable operating expenses, such as
depreciation, state income taxes and UNICORN™ technology research and development less the
absorbed expense which we bill to the government pursuant to the terms of our government
contracts. The table below details unabsorbed operating expenses for the fiscal year ended May
31, 2007 compared to 2006.
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Allowable selling, general and administrative
expenses
Other recoverable operating expenses
Absorption/billings to government
Unabsorbed operating expenses

May 31,
2007

May 31,
2006

Increase/
Decrease

$ 1,987,000

$2,037,000

$ (50,000)

$ 382,000

$ 434,000

$ (52,000)

$ (860,000)

$(1,438,000)

$ 578,000

$ 1,509,000

$ 1,033,000

$ 476,000

(4) Corporate Research and Development. The decrease of $607,000 for the fiscal year ended
May 31, 2007 compared to 2006 was due primarily to the decision to significantly reduce
expenses for the research and development of our TIICM™ technology as we determine the
impact the Analogic Corporation lawsuit has on our TIICM™ research and development project.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our liquidity to date has primarily been provided by revenue from our government contracts and
proceeds from the sale of our equity securities.
Our most recent contract, titled Phase IV SOCRATES®, is the fourth successive contract that we
have received to continue work on our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor. Our Phase IV
SOCRATES® contract was initially funded at $1,695,000 and a second task order provided
additional funding of $1,409,000. Our funded contract backlog for our Phase IV contract as of
fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 was $0.
As of May 31, 2007 and May 31, 2006, our cash and investments were $3,390,000 and
$6,145,000, respectively. The decrease in cash on hand and investments of $2,755,000 was
primarily attributable to the net loss of a $2,788,000 and purchases of equipment and patent costs
of $80,000, less the change in operating assets and liabilities of $22,000, primarily accounts
payable, less depreciation and amortization expense of $91,000 for the fiscal year ended May
31, 2007.
As of May 31, 2007, we had other receivables of $31,000 compared to $97,000 as of May 31,
2006. The net decrease is due to the actual billing to the Government of $84,000 of previously
retained fees on our Phase III SOCRATES® contract and the addition of $30,000 of unbilled
retained fees on our Phase IV SOCRATES® contract for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007.
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As of fiscal year ended May 31, 2007, our accounts receivable were approximately $106,000
compared to $130,000 as of fiscal year ended May 31, 2006. The balance as of fiscal year ended
May 31, 2007 reflects a decrease of $24,000.
As of fiscal year ended May 31, 2007, other current assets were $183,000 compared to $265,000
as of fiscal year ended May 31, 2006. This decrease of $82,000 is due primarily to payments
received from our insurance carrier for legal fees we incurred for the preparation of a motion to
dismiss a class action suit.
We had total current liabilities, including accounts payable, of $593,000 as of fiscal year ended
May 31, 2007 compared to $832,000 as of fiscal year ended May 31, 2006. Accounts payable as
of fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 were $323,000, which included $73,000 to our subcontractor,
Lockheed Martin Corporation, $152,000 to four law firms, and $98,000 in other expenses
compared to accounts payable as of fiscal year ended May 31, 2006 of $603,000, which included
$80,000 to Lockheed Martin, $203,000 in legal fees; $101,000 to consultants for our
UNICORN™ market study, and $219,000 in other expenses. The majority of the legal fees
payable are included in other current assets and will be paid when we are reimbursed by our
insurance company.
Through the end of our fiscal year ending May 31, 2008 we anticipate that we will be able to
fund all of our operating expense and technology and development costs from our own cash and
investments on hand.
For the fiscal year ended May 31, 2008, we have estimated and expect to incur approximately
$2,570,000 in operating expenses and technology development cost primarily for the further
development of our SOCRATES® and AWSM™ technologies. During this period, we have
estimated and expect to receive $480,000 from our hydrodynamic software development
contract billing, $130,000 of interest income and reduce our accounts payable balance as of
fiscal year ending May 31, 2008 by $150,000. Assuming we achieve these estimates, as to which
we can make no guaranty or assurance, we estimate our available cash and investments would be
approximately $1,280,000 as of fiscal year ending May 31, 2008. Increases in costs could
reduce our cash and investments faster than we expect and we can provide no assurance that our
actual cash and investments will be as estimated at any given date.
Our cash projections do not consider additional funding from our $9.815 million SOCRATES®
research and development contract received September 15, 2005 beyond the last task order
funding of $3.104 million which we have completed and billed. In order to receive additional
contract funding the government must request and we must submit a cost and technical proposal
for review and approval of the government. As of the date of this report, we have not received a
request for an additional task order and do not have a projection as to a date for additional task
orders. Further task orders will require additional government funding for further research and
development of SOCRATES® or AWSM™ technology, of which there is $0 funding specified
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in the federal budget for its fiscal year ending September 30, 2007 and $13.755 million in the
FAA budget request for U.S. fiscal year ending September 30, 2008, part of which could be
allocated to continued wake vortex research and development. We are actively pursuing various
sources of governing and private contracts and other funding but there can be no assurance as to
whether or when we will obtain such funding. Lack of and further delays in obtaining additional
government contract or other outside funding will require us to internally fund our operation by
drawing upon our cash and investments.
At present, our own resources are limited and will not be sufficient to complete the research,
development and testing that is necessary to commercialize any of our technologies. Our
inability to obtain further government or private contracts or funding for research, development
and testing of our technologies has had and if prolonged will continue to have a material adverse
affect upon our financial condition and our ability to maintain our operations beyond our fiscal
year ending May 31, 2008.
From time to time, we may consider and execute strategic investments, acquisitions, or other
transactions that we believe could benefit us and could require the use of some or all of our
liquidity. To facilitate such transactions and enhance our liquidity position for these and other
purposes, such as working capital for research and development, we also may conduct from time
to time various types of equity offerings, including, but not limited to, public or private offerings
of common or preferred stock based on a negotiated fixed share value, or floating market price of
our publicly traded shares. If we encounter delays in, or are unable to procure contract funding
from the U.S. government for further research, development and testing of our SOCRATES®
wake vortex sensor, incur costs over our budget, or make strategic investments, our cash
resources will be reduced more rapidly than we presently anticipate. In such event, we may need
to obtain additional capital to maintain operations. There can be no guarantee or assurance of
our future ability to obtain capital for any of the foregoing purposes and, if obtained, the terms
and conditions of such capital may dilute our present shareholders' ownership.
Known Trends, Risks and Uncertainties
Our business and future success are subject to many risks. The following describes some of
the general and specific trends, risks, and uncertainties to which our business is subject
and should be read with care.
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Risks Related to Our Business
We need additional contract funding or need to raise additional capital.
Our present financial resources are limited and are not sufficient to complete research and
development of or commercialize any of our technologies or continue operations significantly
beyond or current fiscal year ending May 31, 2008. We face many uncertainties with respect to
research and development and the timing of commercialization of our SOCRATES®, AWSM™,
UNICORN™ and TIICM™ based products, the availability and level of government funding,
the FAA approvals required for our products, and the long sales cycle from initial customer
contact to actual, if any, revenue generation. Depending on the outcome of these uncertainties,
we might not be able to generate sufficient, if any, revenue or investment capital to fund our
research and development and operations over the period of years we believe are required to
commercialize our products. In each of our last three fiscal years, we have incurred substantial
operating losses which we have funded, in part, with equity capital that we raised from new
investors.
We will continue to incur significant expenses for research and development and testing of our
SOCRATES®, AWSM™, UNICORN™ and TIICM™ technologies and may continue to
experience such losses prior to commercialization and thereafter. If in the near future we are
unable to generate sufficient working capital from revenue from government funding or private
contracts for these purposes, we would need to seek and obtain additional capital. In addition,
future costs, including, without limitation, marketing, sales and installation and research and
development costs of later generation SOCRATES®, AWSM™, UNICORN™ and TIICM™
based products also could require us to seek additional capital. We do not have any credit
facilities in place and we may not be able to obtain sufficient, if any, additional capital or raise
such capital on acceptable terms. Obtaining additional debt or equity capital may require our
entry into joint ventures or issuance of additional securities, which may cause dilution to our
current capital structure and stockholders' ownership. Additional securities also could have a
greater priority as to dividends, distributions and other rights than our common stock.
For the life of our public warrants, and the underwriter's warrants issued pursuant to our
February 2004 public offering, and our existing unregistered options, the holders thereof are
given the opportunity to profit from a rise in the market for our common stock, with a resulting
dilution in the interest of all other stockholders. So long as these warrants or options are
outstanding, the terms on which we could obtain additional capital may be adversely affected.
The holders of these warrants or options might be expected to exercise them at a time when we
would, in all likelihood, be able to obtain any needed capital by a new offering of securities on
terms more favorable than those provided by these warrants or options.
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Our limited operating history and lack of commercial operations make it difficult to
evaluate our prospects.
Since we began operations in 1997, we have generated limited revenues solely from four
SOCRATES® technology research and development contracts with agencies of the federal
government that fund, administer, and oversee these contracts. The federal government has
funded these contracts from earmarked U.S. Congressional appropriations to agencies that have
awarded these contracts to us on a sole source basis without competitive bidding. Under these
contracts, we are reimbursed for certain allowable research and development costs and are paid a
fee calculated as a percentage of costs.
All of our contract funding to date has resulted from earmarks made by the U.S. Congress during
its budget and appropriation process. There is no assurance that we will receive further contract
funding in this manner. Rather, we expect our future contract funding, if any, will depend
primarily upon and result from the decision of our sponsoring agencies, particularly the FAA, to
approve contract funding for further research, development and testing of our SOCRATES® wake
vortex sensor or the wake vortex avoidance system as part of their agency budget and make funds
available for such purpose from amounts appropriated to them or mandated by Congress or other
sources. The FAA has not as yet included such funding in its budget and there can be no assurance
that we will be successful in obtaining any such funding.
We have not as yet received any revenue from the commercial sale of any products. We do not
anticipate receiving any such revenue unless and until our SOCRATES®, AWSM™,
UNICORN™ or TIICM™ based products become operational, which could take several years.
Our estimates of the market size for the products we are developing are based on many
assumptions and uncertainties. Estimates for UNICORN™ have recently been evaluated by an
outside consulting firm. The actual markets and price we can charge for our products, if and
when we successfully complete their development, could be substantially less and our costs
could be greater than our estimates. It therefore is difficult to assess our prospects for
commercial sales, revenues and profitability.
We have incurred and, for the next several years, can be expected to incur operating losses.
To date, we have incurred significant net losses, including net losses of approximately
$2,788,000 for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007, $2,258,000 for the fiscal year ended May 31,
2006 and $1,412,000 for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005. We had an accumulated deficit of
$9,341,826 for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007. We anticipate we may continue to incur
operating losses for at least the next several years. We may never generate material revenues or
achieve or maintain profitability. Substantially all our revenues have been devoted to payment
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of costs incurred in the research, development, and testing of our SOCRATES®, AWSM™,
UNICORN™ or TIICM™ technology. Our ability to achieve, maintain, and/or increase
profitability will depend in large part upon the successful further development and testing of our
SOCRATES®, AWSM™, UNICORN™-based, and TIICM™ products, Congressional
appropriations and our ability to obtain additional federal research and development contracts for
SOCRATES®, AWSM™, UNICORN™ and TIICM™ based products, approval of our
SOCRATES®, AWSM™, UNICORN™-based, and TIICM™ products and systems by various
agencies of the federal government, procurement of our products and systems by the FAA,
airports and the aviation industry, and the availability of funding to finance such procurements.
Lack of future funding from the federal government to complete research and development
of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor could adversely affect our business.
The current federal budget for its fiscal year ending September 30, 2007 did not contain contract
funding for further research and development of our SOCRATES® or AWSM™ technology.
The FAA has proposed approximately $13.755 million of funding for wake vortex research and
development in the federal budget for U.S. fiscal year 2008 that will commence October 1, 2007.
However, there can be no assurance we will obtain any of such funds, even if they are approved
as part of the U.S. budget by the U.S. Congress and signed into law by the President. We
continue to explore and incur significant business development expenses to obtain government
funding for research and development of our technologies, as well as other sources, but can make
no assurance as to whether, when or in what amount we will be able to obtain any such funding.
While we believe the federal government will continue to have a long-term interest in the
development of a wake vortex advisory system and our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor and
AWSM™ technology for inclusion in such a system, the U.S. government may terminate our
government contract at any time if it determines such termination is in the best interests of the
government or may terminate, reduce or modify it because of budgetary constraints or any
change in the government's requirements. Furthermore, the federal government has in the past
delayed or reduced and may in the future delay, reduce, or eliminate funding for research and
development of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor and AWSM™ technology or the wake
vortex advisory system as a result of, among other things, lack of progress or set-backs in
technology development, a reduction in support or opposition from supervising agencies or the
U.S. Congress, changes in budgetary priorities, fiscal constraints caused by federal budget
deficits, or decisions to fund competing systems or components of systems. Any such event
reduces our resources available for research and development of our proprietary technologies,
new products or enhancements to SOCRATES®, AWSM™, UNICORN™ or TIICM™
technologies and to market our products. Delay, termination or reduction of contract funding
from the federal government prevents or delays achievement of or increases in profitability, if
any, creates a substantial strain on our liquidity, resources and product development, and has a
material adverse effect on the progress of our research and development and our financial
condition.
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Our success depends on our successful product development and testing.
Our future success will depend upon our ability to successfully complete the development,
testing, and commercialization of our technologies and our ability to develop and introduce new
products and services to meet industry, government, and client requirements. We are planning to
eventually develop a number of products, based on our SOCRATES®, AWSM™, UNICORN™
and TIICM™ technologies. The process of developing such products contains significant
technological and engineering hurdles and is extremely complex and expensive. In 2001, Volpe
and associated federally funded research centers prepared reports which concluded it was
unlikely SOCRATES® technology would result in a sensor that could be used for any
operational procedure and associated federally funded research centers prepared reports which
concluded it was unlikely SOCRATES® technology would result in a sensor that could be used
for any operational procedure and even for research because of technical unknowns relating to an
understanding of wake vortices and the need to obtain acceptance of WVAS by controllers and
pilots. We believe this conclusion was premature and based on an incomplete understanding of
SOCRATES® technology and its operational potential. In our opinion, the testing and analysis
we have conducted has increasingly supported this potential and resulted in the continuation of
funding for our government contracts for research, development and testing of our
SOCRATES® technology. However, there still are technical, engineering and program
integration hurdles we must meet to develop SOCRATES® technology into an operational
sensor, including, but not limited to, expanding the sensor to at least sixteen and as many as
thirty-two laser beams, integrating the sensor into and with the other components of an
AWSM™ system to make it suitable and effective for a WVAS, and developing operating
protocols for AWSM™ technology that define how it would be used by air traffic controllers and
pilots. In a long term mission needs statement approved by the FAA in 2003, it assigned an
overall moderate to high risk rating to implementation of a WVAS due to technical unknowns
and risks associated with getting controllers and pilots to accept a ground or flight deck based
system. In the case of UNICORN™ technology, we must successfully overcome development,
engineering and testing hurdles to produce an operational product and obtain FAA approval of
this product. Furthermore, we will need to extend the term of the experimental license the FCC
has granted us and, ultimately, obtain a permanent license from the FCC for the operation of
UNICORN™. We might not successfully complete the development of our SOCRATES®,
AWSM™, UNICORN™ or TIICM™ technologies into operational products and our products
may not be commercially viable. Our failure to complete development of any such products and
achieve market acceptance would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.
In addition, certain of our products will require customized installation to address unique
characteristics of their environments. Customization could place an additional burden on our
resources or delay the delivery or installation of products which, in turn, could have a material
adverse effect on our relationship with clients, our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.
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Our success depends on federal government approval of our products and related systems.
The airport and aviation industry is subject to extensive government oversight and regulation. To
introduce our SOCRATES®, AWSM™, UNICORN™ or TIICM™ based products for
commercial sale, we must successfully complete research, development, and testing and obtain
necessary governmental approvals for their installation. Upon approval by the Federal Aviation
Administration, or FAA, our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor or AWSM™ technology would
be part of a multi-component wake vortex advisory system that also will require government
approvals before it can be deployed. Any factor that delays or adversely affects this approval
process, including delays in development or inability to obtain necessary government approvals,
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations, and we can make no assurance when or if all such approvals will be obtained.
In the past, our business has relied on a strategic alliance with Lockheed Martin
Corporation.
In May 1997, we signed a teaming agreement with Lockheed Martin Corporation to jointly
develop and market SOCRATES® based products. This agreement expired in May 2007 and our
relationship with Lockheed Martin has terminated. The agreement stipulated that we serve as
prime contractor and Lockheed Martin Corporation as subcontractor in the development and any
deployment of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor. We have been increasing our capability
to continue without Lockheed Martin. This may require the hiring of additional personnel,
and/or consultants with subject matter expertise. We are also exploring possible strategic
partnering relationships. There can be no assurance that these efforts to replace our past reliance
on Lockheed Martin will be successful.
On April 26, 2004, in conjunction with the renewal of a nondisclosure agreement, we were
advised by Lockheed Martin Corporation that it owns a certain patent which predates our
SOCRATES® patent and, according to Lockheed Martin Corporation, contains some intellectual
property related to our SOCRATES® patent. Lockheed Martin Corporation has told us that it
was prevented from previously disclosing the patent to us because of a government secrecy
order. After consultation with counsel, including our patent counsel, we strongly believe that the
Lockheed Martin Corporation patent will not impair the value of our SOCRATES® patent
because our SOCRATES® patent is aimed at improving air traffic safety, by detection of
atmospheric turbulence, a use not contemplated by the Lockheed Martin Corporation patent.
Furthermore, it is our position that Lockheed Martin Corporation acknowledged and accepted
our invention of the SOCRATES® technology in the May 1997 teaming agreement. We have
met several times with Lockheed Martin Corporation to discuss the matter and potential
opportunities relating to our SOCRATES® patent. However, Lockheed Martin Corporation
continues to disagree with our position.
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In our discussions with Lockheed Martin Corporation concerning our respective intellectual
property claims, Lockheed Martin has asserted that essentially all of its work product, which
results from its research and development on SOCRATES® technology pursuant to work orders
from us, is its property. We have informed Lockheed Martin that we believe that we own or
have rights to use such work product, subject to any rights of the government.
We can make no assurance as to whether or when these issues will be completely resolved with
Lockheed Martin in a satisfactory manner. It is too early for us to assess how this situation will
impact us and whether discussions between us and Lockheed Martin will resume, continue or
resolve the issue. Termination of work by Lockheed Martin could have a material adverse effect
upon our ability to obtain further government funding for and carryout research, development of
our SOCRATES® technology, as well as on our operations, finances and prospects for
successful completion and commercialization of SOCRATES® technology.
Loss of key personnel could adversely affect our business.
Our future success depends to a significant degree on the skills, experience and efforts of our
executive officers, Samuel A. Kovnat, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer,
William B. Cotton, Vice Chairman of the Board and President, Frank L. Rees, Executive Vice
President and Director, David D. Cryer, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, C. Robert Knight,
General Counsel, Vice President of Administration and Secretary, and Dr. Neal Fine, Senior
Vice President for Technology. The sustained unavailability of any one or more of those
individuals for any reason could have a material adverse impact on our operations and prospects.
Mr. Kovnat and Mr. Rees have announced their intention to retire on November 3, 2007 and
thereafter do not plan to serve on our board of directors. The Board intends to develop an
orderly plan of succession to appropriately carry the Company forward.
We anticipate hiring additional executive officers in the future. In view of our present financial
condition and limited liquidity, we may not be able to complete the hiring of these additional
officers in a timely manner or at all. We also depend on the ability of our executive officers and
other members of senior management to continue to work effectively as a team.
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Government regulation could adversely affect our business.
As a result of receiving contract funding from the federal government and our involvement in the
field of aviation, our business and operations are subject to numerous government laws and
regulations. In the near term, and for so long as we receive funding from the federal government,
we will be subject to many procurement and accounting rules and regulations of the federal
government. We are also subject to periodic audits by the Defense Contract Audit Agency, or
DCAA. To date, we are current on all D.C.A.A. required audits and our last audits were
completed and reports distributed by D.C.A.A. on November 14, 2006 and November 21, 2006.
The subject audits covered an audit of the government accounting system which was approved
and the final annual indirect cost rates for our fiscal year ended May 31, 2006 were approved and
submitted. Reports have been issued by the D.C.A.A. to our government customer which have
stated that we are performing in accordance with Federal Acquisitions Regulations. There is no
assurance that any of the results or contents of any future audits will portray us favorably.
These rules and regulations are complex in nature and sometimes difficult to interpret or apply.
Adherence to these rules is reviewed by participating agencies of the federal government. If such
agencies suspect or believe that violations of procurement or accounting rules and regulations
have occurred, they may refer such matters to other enforcement divisions of the federal
government, such as the U.S. Attorney's Office or the Inspector General's office. If we violate
these rules and regulations, even if unintentionally, we may have to pay fines and penalties or
could be terminated from receiving further funding from the federal government. If we market,
sell and install our products in foreign countries, the laws, rules and regulations of those
countries, as well as certain laws of the United States, will apply to us. Existing as well as new
laws and regulations of the United States and foreign countries which regulate aviation and
airports could also adversely affect our business.
Our success depends on our ability to protect our proprietary technology.
Any failure by us to protect our intellectual property could harm our business and competitive
position. For example, although we have sought patent protection for our technologies, the steps
we have taken or intend to take with regard to protecting our technologies may not be adequate
to defend and prevent misappropriation of our technology, including the possibility of reverse
engineering and the possibility that potential competitors will independently develop
technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our technology. Furthermore, any
patent we have obtained or may obtain may subsequently be invalidated for any of a variety of
reasons. In addition, even if we are issued a patent, we may not be able to gain any commercial
advantage from such patent. Existing United States laws afford only limited intellectual property
protection.
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We intend to use a combination of patent, trade secret, copyright and trademark law,
nondisclosure agreements, and technical measures to protect our proprietary technology. We
intend to enter into confidentiality agreements with and obtain assignments of intellectual
property from all of our employees, as well as with our clients and potential clients, and intend to
limit access to and distribution of our technology, documentation and other proprietary
information. However, the steps we take in this regard may not be adequate to deter
misappropriation or independent third-party development of our technology. In addition, the
laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary technology rights to the same extent as
do the laws of the United States. If we resort to legal proceedings to enforce our intellectual
property rights, the proceedings could be burdensome and expensive and could involve a high
degree of risk to our proprietary rights if we are unsuccessful in such proceedings. Moreover, our
financial resources may not be adequate to enforce or defend our rights in our technology.
Additionally, any patents that we apply for or obtain may not be broad enough to protect all of
the technology important to our business, and our ownership of patents does not in itself prevent
others from securing patents that may block us from engaging in actions necessary to our
business, products, or services.
Other companies may claim that we infringe their intellectual property or proprietary
rights.
If our proprietary technology violates or is alleged to violate third party proprietary rights, we
may be required to reengineer our technology or seek to obtain licenses from third parties to
continue offering our technology without substantial reengineering. Any such efforts may not be
successful or if successful could require payments that could have a material adverse effect on
our profitability and financial condition. Any litigation involving infringement claims against us
would be expensive and time-consuming, and an adverse outcome may result in payment of
damages or injunctive relief that could materially and adversely affect our business.
Under certain circumstances, the federal government may be able to use our
SOCRATES®-related technologies or other technologies developed with government
funding without payment to us.
We have taken certain steps to preserve our rights in our SOCRATES®-related technologies
under our contracts with the federal government. However, as is the case with all research and
development contracts funded by the federal government, the Federal Acquisition Regulations
provide that, under certain circumstances, the federal government may have paid-up rights to
use, or have used on its behalf, our SOCRATES®-related technologies or other technologies
developed with government funding. We do not expect that the federal government will attempt
to use our SOCRATES®-related technologies without compensating us. Nevertheless, if the
federal government attempts to exercise these rights, it is difficult to predict what effect, if any, it
may have on us. If the federal government succeeds in exercising these rights, it may have a
material adverse effect on our business operations and financial performance, which could
negatively affect the value of our stock.
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Our future customers, including the FAA, may not accept the price of or be able to finance
our products.
At present, we cannot precisely fix a price for the sale and installation of an initial SOCRATES®
wake vortex sensor at airports or UNICORN™-based collision avoidance systems in small
aircraft or TIICM™ in commercial airliners. We estimate that the cost of our SOCRATES®
wake vortex sensor will be roughly $10 million to $20 million per airport installation, depending
on, among other things, the number and configuration of runways. Due to developments in the
market for general aviation collision warning and avoidance products and information we have
obtained from our ongoing research, development and engineering of UNICORN™, we now
expect the UNICORN™-based system could be more complex than we originally envisioned.
As a result, we anticipate the wholesale price of this product could be approximately $25,000
which is substantially greater than the $10,000 price we have previously estimated. As we
develop further information on the configuration and components of a UNICORN™-based
system for general aviation, related production costs, and rapidly evolving competitive
technologies, we will reassess the potential market for a commercial UNICORN™-based
collision avoidance system for general aviation. Our current goal is to use, build on, and
complete the UNICORN™ research and development we have conducted to date through a tax
advantaged joint venture with private investors that we presently are pursuing. In addition, we
have been pursuing the application of UNICORN™ technology to unmanned air vehicles
(UAV's). On April 2, 2007, we received an Air Force contract to begin the research and
development of UNICORN™ for UAV's. This contract is for $99,316 and has a nine month
period of performance. Because we have not completed the research, development, and testing
of either product or received final approvals for them from the federal government, we have not
commenced production or marketing efforts. We currently do not anticipate having these
products ready for commercial sale for at least several years. We therefore are not yet in a
position to gauge the reaction of potential customers to the pricing of these products or future
products and whether such potential customers will be able to afford and finance our products.
We believe that the increase in efficiency and safety to airports, airlines, and private aircraft
resulting from our products will justify the substantial anticipated cost of sales and installation of
these products. However, our customers' ability to afford such costs will depend, in part, on the
health of the overall economy, the financial condition and budget priorities of the federal
government, particularly the FAA and NASA, profitability of airports, airlines, and aircraft
manufacturers, and the availability of private and government sources of funding to finance the
sales and acquisition of our products. While a variety of potential funding sources exist, inability
of the FAA, airlines or airports to access or obtain funding for purchase and installation of our
products could have a material adverse impact on sales of our SOCRATES®, AWSM™,
UNICORN™ or TIICM™ based products.
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We may experience long sales cycles.
We expect to experience long time periods between initial sales contacts and the execution of
formal contracts for our products and completion of product installations. The cycle from first
contact to revenue generation in our business involves, among other things, selling the concept of
our technology and products; developing and implementing a pilot program to demonstrate the
capabilities and accuracy of our products; negotiating prices and other contract terms; and,
finally, installing and implementing our products on a full-scale basis. We anticipate this cycle
will entail a substantial period of time, on average between seven to twelve months, and the lack
of revenue experienced during this cycle and the expenses involved in bringing new sales to the
point of revenue generation would put a substantial strain on our resources.
Our success will depend on our ability to create effective sales, marketing, production and
installation forces.
At present and for the near future, we will depend upon a relatively small number of employees
and subcontractors to complete the research and development of our SOCRATES® wake vortex
sensor and pursue research and development of other SOCRATES®, AWSM™, UNICORN™
and TIICM™ based products. The marketing and sales of these products will require us to find
additional capable employees or subcontractors who can understand, explain, market, and sell
our technology and products to airports, airlines, and airplane manufacturers. We also will need
to assemble new personnel and/or contractors for production and installation of our products.
Upon successful completion of research and development, these demands will require us to
rapidly increase the number of our employees, vendors, and subcontractors. There is intense
competition for capable personnel in all of these areas, and we may not be successful in
attracting, integrating, motivating, or retaining new personnel, vendors, or subcontractors for
these required functions.
Our business could be adversely affected if our products fail to perform properly.
Products and systems as complex as ours may contain undetected errors or "bugs," which result
in system failures, or failure to perform in accordance with industry expectations. Despite our
plans for quality control and testing measures, our products including any enhancements may
contain such bugs or exhibit performance degradation, particularly during the early stages of
installation, and deployment. Product or system performance problems could result in loss of or
delay in revenue, loss of market share, failure to achieve market acceptance, adverse publicity,
injury to our reputation, diversion of development resources and claims against us by
governments, airlines, airline customers, and others.
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We could be subject to liability claims relating to malfunction of our technology.
Sale of our products will depend on their ability to improve airport, airline, and airplane safety
and efficiency. We will take great care to test our products and systems after installation and
before actual operation to insure accuracy and reliability. The FAA acquires air traffic control
equipment for U.S. airports, and typically assumes the principal product liability risk for such
equipment. However, unforeseen problems, misuse, or changing conditions could cause our
products and systems to malfunction or exhibit other operational problems. Such problems could
cause, or be perceived to cause, airplane accidents, including passenger fatalities. We may
receive significant liability claims if governments, airlines, airports, passengers and other parties
believe that our systems have failed to perform their intended functions. Liability claims could
require us to spend significant time and money in litigation, pay substantial damages, and incur
increased insurance premiums, regardless of our responsibility for such failure. Although we
plan to maintain product liability insurance, such coverage may not continue to be available on
reasonable terms or be available in amounts sufficient to cover one or more large claims, and the
insurer may disclaim coverage as to any claim.
We face significant competition from other companies.
The air safety systems and air traffic control industries are already highly competitive. Other
industry participants could develop or improve their own systems to achieve the cost efficiencies
and value that we believe our products will provide upon successful completion of research and
development. Additional companies may enter the market with competing systems as the size
and visibility of the market opportunity increases. In addition, the government could cause us to
compete against other companies for research and development or production and deployment of
our technologies, when and if we successfully complete any of their development. Many of our
potential competitors have longer operating histories, greater name recognition, substantially
greater financial, technical, marketing, management, service, support, and other resources than
we do. Therefore, they may be able to respond more quickly than we can to new or changing
opportunities, technologies, standards, or customer requirements. Competition could reduce our
revenues and margins and have a material adverse effect on our operations.
New products or technologies will likely increase the competitive pressures that we face.
Increased competition could result in pricing pressures, reduced margins, or the failure of our
products to achieve or maintain market acceptance. The development of competing products or
technologies by market participants or the emergence of new industry or government standards
may adversely affect our competitive position. As a result of these and other factors, we may be
unable to compete effectively with current or future competitors. Such inability would likely
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations.
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Rapid technological change could render our systems obsolete.
Our business in general is characterized by rapid technological change, frequent new product and
service introductions and enhancements, uncertain product life cycles, changes in customer
requirements, and evolving industry standards which make us susceptible to technological
obsolescence. The introduction of new products embodying new technologies, the emergence of
new industry standards, or improvements to existing technologies could render our products and
systems obsolete or relatively less competitive. Our future success will depend upon our ability
to continue to develop and introduce a variety of new products and to address the increasingly
sophisticated needs of our customers. We may experience delays in releasing new products and
systems or enhancements in the future. Material delays in introducing new products and systems
or enhancements may cause customers to forego purchases of our products and systems and
purchase products and systems of competitors instead.
Failure to properly manage growth could adversely affect our business.
To implement our strategy, we believe that we will have to grow rapidly. Rapid growth may
strain our management, financial, and other resources. To manage any future growth effectively,
we must expand our sales, marketing, production, installation, and customer support
organizations, invest in research and development of new products or enhancements to existing
systems that meet changing customer needs, enhance our financial and accounting systems and
controls, integrate new personnel or contractors, and successfully manage expanded operations.
We may not be able to effectively manage and coordinate our growth so as to achieve or
maximize future profitability.
We must hire and retain skilled personnel.
Our success depends in large part upon our ability to attract, train, motivate, and retain highly
skilled employees, particularly sales and marketing personnel, scientists, engineers, and other
technical support personnel. Our failure to attract and retain the highly trained technical
personnel that are integral to our direct sales, product development, installation, support, and
professional services may limit the rate at which we can generate sales or develop new products
or system enhancements, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, or results of operations.
Any acquisition we make could disrupt our business and harm our financial condition.
We may attempt to acquire businesses or technologies that we believe are a strategic fit with our
business. We currently have no commitments for any acquisition. Any future acquisition may
result in unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures, and may absorb significant
management attention that would otherwise be available for ongoing development of our
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business. Since we may not be able to accurately predict these difficulties and expenditures,
these costs may outweigh the value we realize from a future acquisition. Future acquisitions
could result in issuances of equity securities that would reduce our stockholders' ownership
interest, the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities, amortization of expenses related to other
intangible assets and the incurrence of large, immediate write-offs.
You should carefully read and evaluate this entire Form 10-KSB and our current SEC
filings including the risks it describes and not consider or rely upon any statement,
information or opinion about us that is not contained in this Form 10 -KSB and our current
SEC filings.
Certain statements, information and opinions about us have appeared and may continue to appear
in published news reports, analysts' reports, other media sources and our web site. Some of the
information contained in these reports or sources may not be material to understanding our
business or may be out of date, erroneous or inconsistent with that disclosed in this Form 10KSB and our current SEC filings. In making a decision to invest in our securities, you should
not rely upon any of these statements, information or opinions and should only rely upon,
consider and carefully evaluate the information and risks contained in this Form 10-KSB and our
current SEC filings.
We may suffer losses from various investments that we make and related market risks.
From time to time, we may make various types of investments which include, but may not be
limited to, acquisitions of other companies, strategic transactions and joint ventures, repurchase
of our shares, and general investment of our available cash in various types of debt and equity
securities. Some of these investments, such as acquisitions or joint ventures, may involve a high
degree of risk and we could lose the entire amount of our investment. Other investments are
intended to be conservative, e.g., investment of cash reserves in high quality bonds or equity
funds, but are subject to judgments about many factors beyond our control which can adversely
affect these types of investments. For example, a rise in such interest rates will adversely affect
the value of fixed income securities we hold and we may incur a loss of principal if we have to
sell under such conditions. A decline in interest rates may reduce our investment income. We
attempt to be prudent in making any of the foregoing investments, which are reviewed and
approved by management and our board of directors. These types of transactions are necessary
and important for the success of our overall business and our efforts to create value for our
shareholders. However, we have suffered losses on certain of these investments and can make
no assurance that we will not suffer losses in the future. Any such losses could have a material
adverse impact on our results of operations and cash available to support our operations and
investment in research and development.
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Risks Related to Investment in Our Securities
The price of our securities could be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations.
The market price of the securities of a pre-commercial, research and development stage aviation
technology company, such as ours, can be especially volatile. Thus, the market price of our
securities could be subject to wide fluctuations. In fact, the trading volume and price of our
shares have fluctuated greatly. Subject to the information set forth in this Form 10-KSB, we are
unaware of any specific reasons for this volatility and cannot predict whether or for how long it
will continue.
If our revenues do not grow or grow more slowly than we anticipate, we are unable to procure
federal contracts for our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor, AWSM™, UNICORN™ or
TIICM™ technology research and development, we encounter technical or engineering obstacles
to the successful commercial development of SOCRATES®, AWSM™, UNICORN™ or
TIICM™ technology, our operating or capital expenditures exceed our expectations and cannot
be adjusted accordingly, or if some other event adversely affects us, the market price of our
securities could decline. In addition, if the market for aviation technology stocks or the stock
market in general experiences a loss in investor confidence or otherwise fails, the market price of
our securities could fall for reasons unrelated to our business, results of operations, and financial
condition. The market price of our securities also might decline in reaction to events that affect
other companies in our industry even if these events do not directly affect us. Furthermore, the
sale in the open market of recently sold securities or newly issued securities, which we may sell
from time to time to raise funds for various purposes, and securities issuable upon the exercise of
purchase rights under existing options and warrants may place downward pressure on the market
price of our securities. Speculative traders may anticipate a decline in the market price of our
securities and engage in short sales of our securities. Such short sales could further negatively
affect the market price of our securities.
Litigation could adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.
Companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been the
subject of securities class action litigation. We and our chairman and chief executive officer and
President are defendants in pending class action litigation that alleges violations of federal
securities laws and breach of fiduciary duties. A second case against us and our chief executive
officer alleges contractual interference relating to the development of TIICM™ technology. We
firmly believe that the claims contained in both complaints are without merit and intend to
conduct a vigorous defense in these matters. However, defending against existing and potential
litigation will likely require significant attention and resources and, regardless of the outcome,
result in significant legal expenses, which will adversely affect our results unless covered by
insurance or recovered from third parties. If our defenses are ultimately unsuccessful, or if we
are unable to achieve a favorable resolution, we could be liable for damage awards that could
materially adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
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An active trading market for our securities may not be developed or sustained which could
limit the liquidity of an investment in our securities.
There is a limited trading market for our securities which are currently trading on the American
Stock Exchange. There is no assurance that we will be able to continue to meet the listing
requirements and that our securities will remain listed on the American Stock Exchange. If we
are delisted from the American Stock Exchange, an investor could find it more difficult to
dispose of, or to obtain accurate quotations as to the market value of, our securities.
Additionally, regardless of which exchange our securities may trade on, an active and liquid
trading market may not develop or, if developed, may not be sustained, which could limit
security holders' ability to sell our securities at a desired price.
If any of our securities are delisted from the American Stock Exchange, we may be subject
to the risks relating to penny stocks.
If any of our securities were to be delisted from trading on the American Stock Exchange and the
trading price of such security remains below $5.00 per share on the date such security was
delisted, trading in such security would also be subject to the requirements of certain rules
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These rules require additional
disclosure by broker-dealers in connection with any trades involving a security defined as a
penny stock and impose various sales practice requirements on broker-dealers who sell penny
stocks to persons other than established customers and accredited investors, generally
institutions. The additional burdens imposed upon broker-dealers by such requirements may
discourage broker-dealers from effecting transactions in our securities, which could severely
limit the market price and liquidity of such securities and the ability of purchasers to sell our
securities in the secondary market. A penny stock is defined generally as any non-exchange
listed equity security that has a market price of less than $5.00 per share, subject to certain
exceptions.
A large number of shares may be sold in the market following our February 2004 public
offering which may cause the price of our securities to decline.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock or other securities in the public
markets, or the perception that these sales may occur, could cause the market price of our
common stock or other securities to decline and could materially impair our ability to raise
capital through the sale of additional securities. We have 8,235,210 shares of our common stock
outstanding. Of our outstanding shares, 6,469,972 are eligible for public trading.
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Certain events could result in a dilution of your ownership of our common stock.
As of May 31, 2007, we have 8,235,210 shares of common stock and an aggregate of 3,974,049
warrants and options outstanding. The exercise price of all of our common stock equivalents
ranges from $3.30 to $6.00 per share of common stock. Some of these warrants and options may
provide anti-dilution protection to their holders which would result in our issuance of shares in
addition to those under the warrant or option, upon the occurrence of sales of our common stock
below certain prices, stock splits, redemptions, mergers, and other similar transactions.
Furthermore, from time to time we may issue additional shares of common stock in private or
public transactions to raise funds for working capital, research and development, acquisitions, or
other purposes. If one or more of these events occurs, the number of outstanding shares of our
common stock would increase and dilute your percentage ownership of our common stock.
If we do not maintain an effective registration statement or comply with applicable state
securities laws, you may not be able to exercise our public warrants.
For any holder to be able to exercise our public warrants, the shares of our common stock
underlying the public warrants must be covered by an effective and current registration statement
and qualify or be exempt under the securities laws of the state or other jurisdiction in which you
live. We cannot assure you that we will continue to maintain a current registration statement
relating to the shares of our common stock underlying our public warrants or that an exemption
from registration or qualification will be available throughout their term. This may have an
adverse effect on demand for our public warrants and the prices that can be obtained from
reselling them.
Our public warrants may be redeemed on short notice. This may have an adverse impact
on their price.
We may redeem our public warrants for $0.25 per warrant, subject to adjustment in the event of
a stock split, dividend or the like, upon 30 days' notice so long as the last reported sale price per
share of our common stock as reported by the principal exchange or trading market on which our
common stock trades equals or exceeds $10.00 (subject to adjustment) for twenty consecutive
trading days ending on the tenth day prior to the date we give notice of redemption. If we give
notice of redemption, holders of our public warrants will be forced to sell or exercise the public
warrants they hold or accept the redemption price. The notice of redemption could come at a
time when, under specific circumstances or generally, it is not advisable or possible to sell or
exercise our public warrants.
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Our officers, directors and major stockholders will exercise significant control over us.
Our current officers, directors and other major stockholders, in the aggregate, control
approximately 47.22% of our outstanding common stock (including common stock issuable to
such person or group within 60 days after May 31, 2007). As a result, these stockholders acting
together will be able to exert significant control over matters requiring stockholder approval,
including the election of directors, approval of mergers, and other significant corporate
transactions. This concentration of ownership could delay, prevent, or deter a change in control,
and could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their stock as part
of a sale of us and could affect the market price of our stock.
We do not intend to pay cash dividends.
We have never paid cash dividends on our stock and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends
in the foreseeable future.
We may spend our funds in ways with which our stockholders may not agree.
The use of proceeds description from our recent public offering reflected our then-current
planning and was only an estimate that is subject to change in our discretion. Furthermore, a
substantial portion of the net proceeds from our recent public offering was not allocated for
specific uses. Consequently, our management can spend our funds in ways with which our
stockholders may not agree. We cannot predict that our funds will be invested or otherwise
utilized to yield a favorable return.
Item 7. Financial Statements.
The audited financial statements are annexed to this report, commencing on page F-1.
Item 8. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure.
None
Item 8A. Controls and Procedures.
(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. The Company's Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure
controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-14(c) and 15d-14(c) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") as of the end of the period
covered by this Form 10-KSB (the "Evaluation Date"). Based on such evaluation, such officer
has concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, 1) the Company's disclosure controls and
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procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in
reports the Company files under the Securities Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC and 2) the
Company's disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required
to be disclosed in the reports that the Company files or submits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and
chief financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
(b) Changes in Internal Controls. There has been no change in our internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during our most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected
or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.
Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls
Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not
expect that our disclosure controls will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control
system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the control system's objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control
system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefit of controls must
be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems,
no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of
fraud, if any, within our company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the
realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because
of simple error or mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some
persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls. The
design of any system of controls is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of
future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated
goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with associated policies or
procedures. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
Item 8B. Other Information.
None
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PART III
Item 9. Directors, Executive Officers, Promoters and Control Persons; Compliance With
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act.
Information about our directors is incorporated by reference from the information under the
caption "Proposal No. 1 - Election of Directors" and "Section 16 Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance" in our Proxy Statement for our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to
be filed on or before September 28, 2007.
Item 10. Executive Compensation.
Incorporated by reference from the information under the caption "Compensation of Executive
Officers and Directors" in our Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to
be filed on or before September 28, 2007.
Item 11. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters.
Incorporated by reference from the information under the caption "Stock Ownership of
Directors, Executive Officers and Beneficial Owners" in our Proxy Statement for the 2007
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed on or before September 28, 2007.
Item 12. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.
Incorporated by reference from the information under the captions "Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions" in our Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to
be filed on or before September 28, 2007.
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Item 13. Exhibits.
Exhibit
No.
3.1
3.2
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10
10.11
23
31.1
31.2
32.1

Description
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (1)
By-Laws (2)
Employment Agreement effective as of November 4, 2003, between Flight Safety Technologies, Inc.
and Samuel A. Kovnat (3)
Employment Agreement effective as of November 4, 2003, between Flight Safety Technologies, Inc.
and William B. Cotton (4)
Employment Agreement effective as of November 4, 2003, between Flight Safety Technologies, Inc.
and David D. Cryer (5)
Employment Agreement effective as of November 4, 2003, between Flight Safety Technologies, Inc.
and Frank L. Rees (6)
Teaming Agreement dated May 1, 1997, by and between FSTO and Lockheed Martin Corporation (7)
Share Exchange Agreement between Reel Staff, Inc. and Flight Safety Technologies, Inc.,
dated June 24, 2002, as amended July 15, 2002 (8)
Cost Reimbursement Research Project Agreement between Flight Safety Technologies, Inc.
and Georgia Tech Applied Research Corporation (9)
Phase III Contract issued by U.S. Department of Transportation/RSPA/Volpe Center,
dated September 30, 2003 (10)
Agreement between Flight Safety Technologies, Inc. and Advanced Acoustics Concepts, Inc.,
dated January 14, 2000 (11)
Employment Agreement effective as of June 23, 2005, between Flight Safety Technologies, Inc. and
C. Robert Knight (12)
Phase IV Contract issued by U.S. Department of Transportation/RITA/Volpe Center, dated
September 1, 2005 (13)
*Consent of Wolf & Company, P.C.
*Chief Executive Officer Certification as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).
*Chief Financial Officer Certification as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).
*Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as Adopted Pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).

*Submitted herewith
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 on our Form 10-QSB, which was filed on April 6, 2004.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 on our Form SB-2, which was filed on August 9, 2001.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 on our Form SB-2/A, which was filed on January 29, 2004.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 on our Form SB-2/A, which was filed on January 29, 2004.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 on our Form SB-2/A, which was filed on January 29, 2004.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 on our Form 10-QSB, which was filed on April 6, 2004.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 on our 8-KA, which was filed on November 6, 2002.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 on our Form 8-K, which was filed on July 18, 2002.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 on our Form SB-2/A, which was filed on November 26, 2003.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 on our Form SB-2/A, which was filed on November 26, 2003.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 on our Form SB-2/A, which was filed on November 26, 2003.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 on our Form 10-QSB, which was filed on September 7, 2006.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 on our Form 10-QSB, which was filed on September 7, 2006.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.
Incorporated by reference from the information under the captions "Audit and Related Fees" in
our Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed on or before
September 15, 2007.
SIGNATURES
In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the registrant caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Flight Safety Technologies, Inc.
a Nevada corporation

September 10, 2007

By:

/s/ Samuel A. Kovnat
Samuel A. Kovnat
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears
below constitutes and appoints William B. Cotton, his attorneys-in-fact, each with the power of
substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Report on Form
10-KSB, and to file the same, with Exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of
said attorneys-in-fact, or substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
In accordance with the Exchange Act, this report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Date

/s/ William B. Cotton
William B. Cotton, Director, President

September 10, 2007

/s/ Frank L. Rees
Frank L. Rees, Director, Executive Vice President

September 10, 2007

/s/ David D. Cryer
David D. Cryer, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer

September 10, 2007

/s/ C. Robert Knight
C. Robert Knight, Secretary, Vice President of Administration/
General Counsel

September 10, 2007

/s/ Kenneth S. Wood
Kenneth S. Wood, Director

September 10, 2007

/s/ Jackson Kemper
Jackson Kemper, Director

September 10, 2007

/s/ Larry L. Pressler
Larry L. Pressler, Director

September 10, 2007

/s/ Wes Cummins
Wes Cummins, Director

September 10, 2007

/s/ James Schwartz
James Schwartz, Director

September 10, 2007

/s/ Joseph J. Luca
Joseph J. Luca, Director

September 10, 2007
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F-1

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS
FLIGHT SAFETY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
MYSTIC, CONNECTICUT
We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Flight Safety Technologies, Inc. as of May
31, 2007 and 2006, and the related statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in
stockholders' equity and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Flight Safety Technologies, Inc. as of May 31, 2007 and 2006, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Wolf & Company, P.C.
Boston, Massachusetts
August 23, 2007

F-2

FLIGHT SAFETY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
Balance Sheets
as of
May 31, 2007 and 2006
2007

2006

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Contract receivables
Investments available for sale, at fair value
Investments held to maturity
Inventory
Other current assets
Total current assets

$

Property and equipment, net of accumulated
depreciation of $488,245 and $418,656
Other Assets:
Intangible assets, net of accumulated
amortization of $86,611 and $65,330
Other receivables
Total other assets
Total Assets

$

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Total current liabilities

$

Stockholders' equity:
Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value,
5,000,000 shares authorized, none issued
and outstanding
Common stock, $0.001 par value,
50,000,000 shares authorized, 8,331,510
shares issued at May 31, 2007 and
2006
Additional paid-in-capital
Treasury Stock, 96,300 shares at May 31,
2007 and 116,300 shares at May 31,
2006, at cost
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity
$

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

2,439,911
105,538
950,000
-108,044
183,027
3,786,520

$

126,849

181,606

275,173
30,693
305,866
4,219,235

230,750
96,673
327,423
7,157,222

322,662
270,075
592,737

$

$

603,538
228,427
831,965

---

---

8,332
13,125,455

8,332
13,070,192

(165,463)
(9,341,826)
3,626,498
4,219,235

(199,827)
(6,553,440)
6,325,257
7,157,222

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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145,572
130,001
1,661,919
4,337,907
108,044
264,750
6,648,193

FLIGHT SAFETY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
Years Ended May 31, 2007 and 2006

2007
Contract Revenues

$

1,546,857

2006
$

3,869,962

Cost of Revenues
Gross Profit

1,338,074
208,783

2,369,311
1,500,651

Operating Expenses
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Total Operating Expenses

130,235
3,042,600
90,870
3,263,705

1,054,278
2,592,745
108,001
3,755,024

(3,054,922)

(2,254,373)

240,920
12,025

283,951
(262,337)

(2,801,977)

(2,232,759)

(13,591)

24,800

(2,788,386)

(2,257,559)

12,025

(98,314)

(12,025)
$(2,788,386)

262,337
$(2,093,536)

Loss From Operations
Other Income (Expense)
Interest income
Gain (loss) on investments available for sale
Loss Before Provision For Income Taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net Loss
Other Comprehensive Loss
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments
Less: reclassification adjustment for (gain) loss
included in net loss
Comprehensive Loss
Net Loss Per Share
Basic and diluted

$

Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding
Basic and diluted

8,216,416

(.34)

$

(.27)

8,215,168

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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FLIGHT SAFETY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity
Years Ended May 31, 2007 and 2006
Common
Stock
Shares
Amount
Balance at
May 31, 2005
Unearned Stock
Compensation
Warrants Exercised
Unrealized Losses on
Securities, Net of
Reclassification
Adjustment
Net Loss
Balance at
May 31, 2006
Stock Options Granted
Treasury Stock Issued
Net Loss
Balance at
May 31, 2007

8,331,410

$

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

8,331

-100

-1

--

--

--

--

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Treasury
Stock

13,069,863

$

(199,827)

-329

$

(164,023)

--

---

--

--

--

--

Unearned
Stock
Compensation

$

Total
Stockholders'
Equity

Accumulated
Deficit

(4,769)

$

(4,295,881)

$

8,413,694

4,769
--

---

4,769
330

164,023

--

--

--

-(2,257,559)

(2,257,559)

164,023

8,331,510
----

$

8,332
----

$

13,070,192
42,160
13,103
--

$

(199,827)
-34,364
--

$

-----

$

-----

$

(6,553,440)
--(2,788,386)

$

6,325,257
42,160
47,467
(2,788,386)

8,331,510

$

8,332

$

13,125,455

$

(165,463)

$

--

$

--

$

(9,341,826)

$

3,626,498

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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FLIGHT SAFETY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
Statements of Cash Flow
Years Ended May 31, 2007 and 2006

2007
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Share-based compensation
(Gain) Loss on investments available for sale
Accretion of investment discounts
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease in contract receivables
Decrease in other receivables
Decrease (increase) in other current assets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued
expenses
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of available for sale securities
Proceeds from sale of available for sale securities
Purchase of held to maturity securities
Proceeds from maturity of held to maturity securities
Purchases of property and equipment
Payments for patent costs
Net cash provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from warrants exercised
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2006

$(2,788,386)

$ (2,257,559)

90,870
89,627
(12,025)
(39,482)

108,001
4,769
262,337
(150,522)

24,463
65,980
81,723

285,616
233,337
(213,029)

(239,228)
(2,726,458)

62,312
(1,664,738)

(700,000)
1,423,944
(3,667,613)
8,045,002
(14,832)
(65,704)
5,020,797

-1,100,000
(16,421,264)
16,767,640
(63,092)
(68,141)
1,315,143

---

330
330

2,294,339

(349,265)

145,572
$ 2,439,911

494,837
$ 145,572

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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FLIGHT SAFETY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
Notes To The Financial Statements
Years Ended May 31, 2007 and 2006
Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Significant accounting policies followed by Flight Safety Technologies, Inc. (the Company) in
determining financial position and the results of operations are as follows:
(a)

Nature of Business

The Company is engaged in the development of four proprietary technologies: AWSM™,
SOCRATES®, UNICORN™ and TIICM™.
AWSM™ is a technology the Company is developing into a system of sensors and other
components to form a wake vortex avoidance system (WVAS).
SOCRATES® (Sensor for Optically Characterizing Ring-eddy Atmospheric Turbulence
Emanating Sound) is being designed to detect clear air turbulence, micro-bursts and aircraft
generated vortices which result in hazardous conditions to safe air travel.
UNICORN™ (Universal Collision Obviation and Reduced Near-Miss) is a technology that is
being designed based upon an arrangement of radar which gives both visual and audible warning
indication of approaching aircraft to pilots.
TIICM™ (Tactical Integrated Illuminating Countermeasure) is a possible solution to the threat of
ground fired and hand held missile being fired on aircraft by terrorists.
On May 29, 1997, the Company was awarded its first contract representing Phase I, Task Order
No: 0001, in the amount of $1,326,335, sponsored by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA),
to commence the development and "Proof-of-Principle" of SOCRATES®. Since our initial
SOCRATES® funding the company has been awarded contracts for the development of our
SOCRATES® Technology totaling $19,820,973.
The Company's Federal contract, which represents 75% and 96% of the revenues for 2007 and
2006, respectively, was issued and is managed by The Volpe Center of the U.S. Department of
Transportation. Our funded contract backlog as of May 31, 2007 is $0 for SOCRATES®. Of the
remaining, 24% and 4% of revenue for 2007 and 2006 has been generated from purchase orders
primarily for engineering services for hydrodynamic software development provided to companies
in the maritime industry and our funded backlog as of May 31, 2007 is $66,419 for these
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
engineering services. In addition, on April 2, 2007 the Company received a Small Business
Innovated Research (SBIR) contract from the Air Force in the amount of $99,316 for Unmanned
Air Vehicle (UAV) research using UNICORN™ technology. For 2007 revenue from this contract
was 1% or $17,500 and the contract backlog is $81,816.
The Company's primary office is in Mystic, Connecticut, and it also has offices in Baltimore,
Maryland; Austin, Texas; and North Kingstown, Rhode Island. In addition to its full-time
employees, the Company has been further supported by a team of consultants and subcontractors,
including Lockheed Martin Corporation, with whom the Company had a long-term Teaming
Agreement (expired May 2007), ICF Consulting Services, Applied Physical Sciences, Microwave
Solutions and Georgia Tech Applied Research Corporation.
(b)

Revenue and Cost Recognition

Our contracts with the United States government are cost-reimbursable contracts that provide for
a fixed profit percentage (base fee), applied to our actual costs to complete the work. These
contracts are subject to audit and adjustment by our customer, and are subject to cost limitations
as provided by the contract.
For these contracts, revenue is recorded at the time services are performed based upon actual
project costs incurred including a reimbursement for general, administrative, and overhead costs
and the base fee. The general, administrative, and overhead costs are estimated periodically in
accordance with government contract accounting regulations and may change based on actual
costs incurred subject to approval. Revenue may be adjusted for our estimate of costs that may
be categorized as disputed or unallowable as a result of cost overruns or the audit process.
Project costs include all direct material, labor and subcontracting costs. General and
administrative costs are charged to expense as incurred. Provisions for estimated losses on
uncompleted contracts are made in the period in which such losses are determined. Changes in
job performance, job conditions and estimated profitability and final contract settlements may
result in revisions to chargeable costs and revenue recorded and are recognized in the period in
which the revisions are determined. Revenue related to additional claims under the contract is
recorded at the lesser of actual costs incurred or the amount expected to be realized.
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
The Company participates in teaming agreements where it is the primary contractor and
participates with other organizations to provide services to the Federal government. The Company
has managerial and oversight responsibility for team members as well as the responsibility for the
ultimate acceptability of performance under the contract. Accordingly, the Company includes as
revenues the amounts that it bills under the teaming arrangements and includes as direct costs
amounts that are reimbursable or paid to team members.
(c)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of reporting cash flows the Company considers all highly liquid investments with
maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash and cash equivalents.
(d)

Marketable Securities

The Company classifies its debt and marketable equity securities into held-to-maturity, trading, or
available-for-sale categories according to the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities". Debt
securities are classified as held-to-maturity when the Company has the positive intent and ability to
hold the securities to maturity. Held-to-maturity securities are recorded as either short-term or
long-term on the balance sheet based on contractual maturity date and are stated at amortized cost.
Marketable securities that are bought and held principally for the purpose of selling them in the
near term are classified as trading securities and are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains
and losses recognized in earnings. Debt and marketable equity securities not classified as held-tomaturity or as trading are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair market value, with
the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, included in the determination of comprehensive income
or loss and reported in shareholders' equity. Realized gains and losses on sale of investments are
determined on a specific identification basis.
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Management evaluates securities for other-than-temporary impairment at least on a quarterly
basis and more frequently when economic or market conditions warrant such evaluation.
Consideration is given to (1) the length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been
less than cost, (2) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, and (3) the intent
and ability of the Company to retain its investment in the issuer for a period of time sufficient to
allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value. Securities that have experienced an other-thantemporary decline in value are written down to estimated fair value, establishing a new cost basis
with the amount of the write-down expensed as a realized loss.
(e)

Inventory

Inventory consists of long lead SOCRATES® system components purchased to further expand the
system. Inventory is accounted for at lower of cost or market, with cost determined on the first-in
first-out basis.
(f)

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method. Cost and accumulated depreciation of assets retired or
disposed of are removed from the accounts. Gains and losses are recognized upon disposal of
assets. The cost of maintenance and repairs is charged to operations as incurred, whereas
significant repairs are capitalized.
Estimated useful lives by asset class are as follows:
Machinery & equipment
Furniture & fixtures
Automobiles
Software
(g)

5 years
5 years
5 years
3 years

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of patent costs associated with SOCRATES®, UNICORN™ and
TIICM™. Costs of outside legal counsel related to obtaining new patents are capitalized. Patent
costs are being amortized using the straight-line method over the lesser of seventeen years from the
date incurred or the remaining life of the underlying patent.
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In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, "Accounting for
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets" (SFAS No. 144) the Company assesses its
patents for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate their carrying
value may not be recoverable. Such circumstances may include a significant adverse change in
legal factors or the business climate that could affect the value of the patents. In determining
recoverability, the Company must determine the asset's fair value, which may require
Management to make significant assumptions about the future cash generating ability of the
asset. If an asset is determined to be impaired, the difference between the asset's fair value and
book value is charged to expense in the period the impairment is identified. After an impairment
loss is recognized, the adjusted carrying amount of the intangible asset becomes its new basis.
Subsequent reversal of a previously recognized impairment loss is prohibited under SFAS No.
144.
(h)

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company had amounts in excess of $100,000 in a single bank during the year. Amounts over
$100,000 are not covered by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. Concentration of credit
risk also exists with respect to contract receivables and investment securities. The concentrated
risk associated with contract receivables is mitigated by the fact that certain of these receivables are
due from the United States Government. The risk for investment securities is mitigated by an
Investment Policy which, approved by the Board of Directors, restricts investing in fixed income
securities below an "A" rating at the time of purchase and investments in asset backed securities,
mortgage backed securities and collateralized mortgage obligations below a "AAA" rating at the
time of purchase.
(i)

Research and Development

Company sponsored research and development costs, including proposal costs and un-reimbursed
expenditures for developmental activities, are charged to operations as incurred.
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(j)

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax basis. A valuation allowance is provided on deferred tax assets when it is more
likely than not that some portion of the assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using enacted income tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the period of
enactment.
(k)

Per Share Data

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of shares
of common stock outstanding during the period. For the years ended May 31, 2007 and May 31,
2006, the effect of stock options and warrants was anti-dilutive; therefore, they were not included
in the computation of diluted loss per share. The weighted average number of shares issuable
upon the exercise of outstanding stock options and warrants that were excluded from the
computation as their effect would be anti-dilutive was 3,724,049 and 3,300,330 for the years
ended May 31, 2007 and May 31, 2006, respectively.
(l)

Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair value of financial instruments has been determined based on the available
market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. The carrying amounts of cash and
cash equivalents, accounts receivable (including other receivables), other current assets, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value at May 31, 2007 and May 31, 2006, because
of the short maturity of these financial instruments.
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(m)

Estimates

In preparing financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles,
management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities as of the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period. Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to
significant change in the near term relate to the carrying values of investments, inventory,
intangible assets, other receivables and the calculation of share-based compensation. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
(n)

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective June 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 123, "Share-Based Payments (revised 2004)," (SFAS No.
123R) which requires the Company to measure the cost of employee services received in
exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant date fair value of the award. That
cost is recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide services in
exchange for the award, the requisite service period (usually the vesting period). Under SFAS
No. 123R, the Company provides an estimate of forfeitures at initial grant date. The Company
elected the modified prospective transition method under SFAS No. 123R and accordingly has
not restated periods prior to adoption. The Company recognized $42,160, as compensation
expense related to employee stock options granted in the Fiscal Year 2007.
Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, the Company followed the accounting treatment
prescribed by APB Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees", and related
interpretations when accounting for stock-based compensation granted to employees and
directors. Accordingly, no compensation expense was recognized for stock option awards
because the exercise price of the Company's stock options equaled or exceeded the market price
of the underlying stock on the date of the grant.
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The following table illustrates the effect on net loss and net loss per share if the Company had
applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) to stock-based employee
compensation:
Year Ended
May 31, 2006
Net loss as reported

$<2,257,559>

Add: stock-based employee compensation expense
included in net loss

$4,769

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under the fair value based method for
all awards

$<2,357,406>

Pro forma net income loss

$<4,610,196>

Earnings per share:
Basic and diluted - as reported
Basic and diluted - pro forma

$<.27>
$<.56>

The fair value of each option grant is estimated as of the grant date using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model. The following weighted average assumptions were used to value the
options granted in the years ended May 31, 2007 and 2006:
2007
4.71%
None
6 years
62%
$0.67

Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected life of options
Expected volatility
Weighted-average grant-date fair value
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2006
4.45%
None
10 years
69%
$1.54
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Notes To The Financial Statements
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
As of May 31, 2006, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors elected to
accelerate the vesting of stock options previously awarded to employees, officers and directors
under the Company's equity incentive compensation arrangements. These options would have
vested over the next three years at exercise prices of $3.50 and $6.00 per share. The decision to
accelerate vesting of these options was made primarily to reduce compensation costs in the
Company's income statements over the next three years as a result of SFAS No. 123R, which
requires compensation costs related to share-based payment transactions, including stock
options, be recognized in the Company's financial statements. The Company adopted the revised
standard in the first quarter of the 2007 fiscal year and will apply it to the options granted or
modified after May 31, 2006.
(o)

Retirement Savings Plan

Effective July 1, 2004, the Company established a Retirement Savings Plan (the "Plan") under
the provisions of Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Employees, as defined in the
plan, are eligible to participate on their first day of employment. Under the terms of the Plan, the
Company will match up to the employees contribution of 5% of gross pay. The Company
matching funds vest 100% with each semi-monthly payroll. The Company matching for the
years ending May 31, 2007 and 2006 were $71,674 and $66,924, respectively.
(p)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 48,
"Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes" (FIN 48). FIN 48 requires the use of a two-step
approach for recognizing and measuring tax benefits taken or expected to be taken in a tax return
and disclosures regarding uncertainties in income tax positions. FIN 48 is effective in fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2006. The cumulative effect of initially adopting FIN 48 will be
recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings in the year of adoption and will be
presented separately. Only tax positions that meet the more likely than not recognition threshold
at the effective date may be recognized upon adoption of FIN 48. The Company is currently
evaluating the potential impact, if any, that the adoption of FIN 48 will have on its consolidated
financial statements.
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In September 2006 the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements." SFAS No. 157
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted
accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The
pronouncement is applicable in cases when assets or liabilities are to be measured at fair value. It
does not establish new circumstances in which fair value would be used to measure assets or
liabilities. The provisions of SFAS No. 157 are effective for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact, if any, the
adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have on its consolidated financial statements. On February 15,
2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 159, "The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Liabilities-Including an Amendment of FAS 115." This standard permits an entity to choose to
measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. This option is available
to all entities. Most of the provisions in FAS 159 are elective; however, an amendment to FAS
115 "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities" applies to all entities
with available for sale or trading securities. SFAS 159 is effective as of the beginning of an
entity's first fiscal year that begins after November 15, 2007. Early adoption is permitted as of
the beginning of the previous fiscal year provided that the entity makes that choice in the first
120 days of that fiscal year and also elects to apply the provisions of SFAS 157 "Fair Value
Measurements." The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact, if any, the adoption
of SFAS No. 159 will have on its consolidated financial statements.
On December 15, 2006 the Securities and Exchange Commission announced that it is has
modified reporting requirements for smaller public companies under Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX 404) of 2002. The Commission granted relief to smaller public
companies by extending the date by which non-accelerated filers must start providing a report by
management assessing the effectiveness of the company's internal control over financial
reporting. The compliance date for these companies was moved from fiscal years ending on or
after July 15, 2007, to fiscal years ending on or after December 15, 2007. The Commission also
extended the date by which non-accelerated filers must begin to comply with the Section 404(b)
requirement to provide an auditor's attestation report on internal control over financial reporting
in their annual reports. This deadline was moved to the first annual report for a fiscal year ending
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on or after December 15, 2008. The extension requires all non-accelerated filers to complete only
management's portion of the internal control requirements in their first year of compliance with
SOX 404. This modification is intended to provide cost savings and efficiency opportunities to
smaller public companies and to assist them as they prepare to comply fully with SOX 404
reporting requirements. The extension will provide these issuers and their auditors an additional
year to consider, and adapt to, the changes in Auditing Standard No. 5 that the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board has issued, as well as the guidance for management the
Commission has issued, to improve the efficiency of the Section 404(b) auditor attestation report
process.
Note 2 - Contract Receivables and Other Receivables
At May 31, 2007 and May 31, 2006 accounts receivable consisted of the following:

U.S. Government and other:
Amounts billed (Contract Receivables)
Amounts not billed (Other Receivables)

2007

2006

$ 105,538
30,693
$ 136,231

$ 130,001
96,673
$ 226,674

Other receivables include retained fees on Government contracts which represent up to a 15%
payment hold back against billable fees. At May 31, 2007, we do not expect to receive payments
for these other receivables in the next year and consider this account a long term asset. The
summary below compares the balances for other receivables as of May 31, 2007 and May 31,
2006.

Retained Fee
Phase III Socrates
Phase IV Socrates
All other
Total

2007

2006

-30,460
233
$30,693

$96,673
--$96,673

$
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A summary of investments is as follows:
May 31, 2007
Amortized
Cost
Available for Sale
Mutual funds

Gross Unrealized
Gains

$950,000

$

Gross Unrealized
Losses

--

$

--

Fair
Value
$950,000

May 31, 2006
Amortized
Cost
Available for Sale
Mutual funds
Held to Maturity
Corporate bonds
U.S. Government
Securities

Gross Unrealized
Gains

$1,661,919

$3,837,905
500,002
$4,337,907

Gross Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

$

--

$

--

$ 1,661,919

$

789

$

--

$3,838,694

$

-789

(5,472)
$ (5,472)

494,530
$4,333,224

Information pertaining to securities with gross unrealized losses at May 31, 2006 aggregated by
investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous loss
position is as follows:
May 31, 2006

Mutual funds
Corporate bonds
U.S. Government securities
Total temporarily impaired
securities

Greater Than Twelve Months
Gross
Unrealized
Fair
Losses
Value

Less Than Twelve Months
Gross
Unrealized
Fair
Losses
Value
$

$

----

$

----

$

--

$

--

$ 5,472
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--494,530
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Note 3 - Investments (continued)
The Company recognized $262,337 of impairment charges in 2006 related to its investments
available for sale. These losses resulted from the Company's investment in mutual bond funds
consisting of common shares of Western Assets/Claymore U.S. Treasury inflation protected
securities, which have a credit quality average rating of AAA, an anticipated yield between 5.25%
- 5.75% and secondary market liquidity. Management expected the unrealized loss to decline as the
gap between the ten year treasury rate and Consumer Price Index (CPI) rate narrowed which was
expected to occur over several months based on relevant economic forecasts. However, despite the
narrowing of the gap between the yield on the ten year Treasury rate and the CPI, the price of the
investment did not improve as expected. The Company considered the severity and duration of
these impairments and determined that they were other than temporary, and therefore, recorded
impairment losses.
Note 4 - Property and Equipment
Property and equipment at May 31, 2007 and 2006 are summarized by major classifications as
follows:

Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Automobiles
Software
Less: accumulated depreciation

2007

2006

$305,288
12,515
220,397
76,894
615,094
488,245
$126,849

$290,456
12,515
220,397
76,894
600,262
418,656
$181,606

Depreciation expense for the years ended May 31, 2007 and 2006 was $69,589 and $90,048,
respectively.
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Intangible assets at May 31, 2007 and 2006 consist of patents as follows:

Cost
Less Accumulated Amortization

2007

2006

$361,784
(86,611)
$275,173

$296,080
(65,330)
$230,750

Amortization expense for the years ended May 31, 2007 and 2006 was $21,281 and $17,953,
respectively. Amortization expense for the next five years is expected to be approximately
$22,000 per year.
Note 6 - Related Party Transactions
The Company utilizes the lobbying services of a firm that is wholly-owned by one of the
Company's directors. Total expenses related to these services were $111,678 and $113,300 for the
years ended May 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. As of May 31, 2007, $9,998 remained unpaid
and is included in accounts payable.
The Company utilized one of the Company's directors for a specific business development
assignment and the expense for this service was $21,262 and $23,136 for the year ended May 31,
2007 and 2006 respectively.
The Company leased office space in Baltimore, MD from an officer of the Company for $500 per
month on a month to month basis through December 31, 2006. Total rent expense related to this
office space was $3,500 and $6,000 respectively for each the years ended May 31, 2007 and 2006.
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Warrants
A summary of the activity of our outstanding warrants for the year ended May 31, 2007 is as
follows:

Balance May 31, 2006
Expired
Granted
Exercised
Balance May 31, 2007

Warrants
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

1,919,200

$3.49

----

----

1,919,200

$3.49

The following table summarizes the purchase price of outstanding warrants as of May 31, 2007
and 2006:
Exercise Price
$3.30
$3.60
$5.40
Total

2007
1,514,200
270,000
135,000
1,919,200

2006
1,514,200
270,000
135,000
1,919,200

All outstanding warrants are exercisable as of May 31, 2006 and expire January 29, 2009.
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The warrants exercisable at $3.30, above, were issued in conjunction with a public offering in
February 2004 (public warrants). We may redeem our public warrants for $0.25 per warrant,
subject to adjustment in the event of a stock split, dividend or the like, upon 30 days notice so
long as the last reported sale price per share of our common stock as reported by the principal
exchange or trading market on which our common stock trades equals or exceeds $10.00 (subject
to adjustment) for twenty consecutive trading days ending on the tenth day prior to the date we
give notice of redemption. If we give notice of redemption, holders of our public warrants will
be forced to sell or exercise the public warrants they hold or accept the redemption price. The
notice of redemption could come at a time when, under specific circumstances or generally, it is
not advisable or possible to sell or exercise our public warrants.
Stock Options
The Company adopted the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan in October 2005. Under the terms of the
2005 Plan, all of our employees, directors, consultants and advisors are eligible to be granted
options, restricted stock awards, or other stock-based awards. Under the 2005 Plan, a total of
1,500,000 shares of our common stock are available for issuance, of which 46,400 shares remain
available for future awards as of May 31, 2007. In addition, the shareholder vote that approved
the 2005 Plan also approved previous awards totaling 570,000 options on shares of our common
stock.
The Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors, in its discretion, selects the person(s) to
whom stock based awards may be granted, the time or times at which such awards shall be
granted, the number of shares subject to each such grant, and the term of the award. The
exercise price of options granted under the 2005 Plan is determined by the Committee at the time
the options are granted but may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the common
stock on the date such option is granted; provided, however, the exercise price of an incentive
stock option granted to a 10% or greater shareholder may not be less than 110% of the fair
market value of the common stock on the date such option is granted.
Options granted under the 2005 Plan expire no later than ten (10) years from the date of grant;
provided that in the case of an incentive stock option granted to a 10% shareholder, the term of
the option may be no more than five (5) years from the date of grant. No option may be
exercised after the expiration of its term.
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A summary of the activity of our outstanding stock options for the year ended May 31, 2007 is as
follows:

Options
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

1,886,100

$3.58

(31,251)
200,000
--

6.00
3.50
--

Balance May 31, 2007

2,054,849

$3.54

$8.22

$ --

Exercisable at May 31, 2007

1,904,849

$3.54

$8.10

$ --

Balance May 31, 2006
Expired
Granted
Exercised

As of May 31, 2007, there was $91,900 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to the
nonvested stock options that is expected to be recognized over a period of approximately 2.75
years.
Some of these warrants and options may provide antidilution protection to their holders which
would result in our issuance of shares in addition to those under the warrant or option, upon the
occurrence of sales of our common stock below certain prices, stock splits, redemptions,
mergers, and other similar transactions.
Other Share-Based Payments
On January 25, 2007, the Company approved the award of 114,000 shares to be evenly divided
between two consultants as additional compensation for governmental affairs representation of
the Company. These shares are to be reissued from existing Treasury shares. One of the Firms is
wholly-owned by a director of the Company. These shares vest on a monthly basis over the
period of 14 months. Expense related to these shares is being recognized at the fair value of the
shares over the vesting period. The Company recognized expense of $47,467 on the vesting of
20,000 shares during the year ended May 31, 2007.
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Income tax expense (benefit) for the years ending May 31, 2007 and 2006 is as follows:
2007
Current tax provision
Federal
State
Total current
Deferred tax provision
Federal
State
Total deferred
Total

$

2006

-(13,591)
(13,591)

$

---$ (13,591)

-24,800
24,800

---$ 24,800

The tax effects of temporary differences and carry-forwards that give rise to deferred taxes as of
May 31, 2007 and 2006 are:
May 31,
2007
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carry forwards
Property and equipment
Accrued vacation
Tax credits
Gross deferred tax asset
Valuation allowance
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment
Different book and tax bases of intangible assets
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax asset (liability)
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2006

$2,813,340
8,573
56,099
112,954
2,990,966
(2,983,783)
7,183

$ 1,985,000
3,000
36,700
29,300
2,054,000
(2,046,300)
7,700

0
(7,183)
(7,183)
--

-(7,700)
(7,700)
$
--

$

FLIGHT SAFETY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
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Note 8 - Income Taxes (continued)
Current tax expense (benefit) for 2007 and 2006 is due primarily to State excise taxes on equity.
Cash paid for taxes amounted to $0 and $5,300 in 2007 and 2006, respectively.
The Company has recorded a full valuation allowance of the net deferred tax asset because the
company believes it is more likely than not that the asset will not be realized. The Company has
federal and state net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $7,291,000, to reduce future
taxable income, if any. The federal operating losses expire in various years through 2026 and the
State operating losses expire in various years through 2011. Use of net operating losses may be
subject to limitations based on ownership changes, as defined by the Internal Revenue Code.
The differences between income tax at the statutory federal income tax rate and the effective tax
rates are summarized as follows:
2007
$ (952,672)
(152,289)
9,285
68,034
-34,910
125,303
(83,645)
937,483
$ (13,591)

Income tax expense (benefit) at statutory rate
State tax provision, net of federal benefit
Non-deductible meals and entertainment
Non deductible lobbying expense
Change in estimated effective rate
Share based compensation
Expiration of net operating losses
Other tax credits
Change in valuation allowance
Income tax as reported

2006
$ (759,140)
(85,700)
6,360
58,120
142,860
---662,300
$ 24,800

Note 9 - Commitments
The Company has two leases for office space in Mystic, Connecticut; one a month to month
lease with monthly rent of $1,680 and the other a lease expiring on May 31, 2008 with monthly
rents of $1,075. The Company also leases office space in North Kingston, Rhode Island at
$1,240 per month and expiring on May 31, 2008 and office space in Denver, Colorado at $500
per month and expiring on November 30, 2007. Rent expense for all leased space was $54,350
and $48,216 for the years ended May 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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Note 9 - Commitments (Continued)
The Company also has operating leases for a Xerox copier and a 2005 Lincoln Town Car with
monthly payments of $408 and $761, respectively. The copier lease expires June 30, 2011 and the
Lincoln Town Car lease expires July 31, 2008. Rent expense for these operating leases was
$13,621 for each of the years ended May 31, 2007 and 2006.
Future minimum lease commitments under all non-cancellable lease agreements is as follows:
Year Ending May 31
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012

$
$
$
$
$

Total
42,159
6,420
4,898
4,898
408

In connection with the transfer of the UNICORN™ technology from Advanced Acoustical
Concepts, Inc. (AAC) to the Company, the Company has agreed to pay a lump sum of $150,000 to
AAC after the Company receives revenues from sales of UNICORN™ products of $1,000,000 and
a continuing 3% royalty on all net sales of UNICORN™ products thereafter. As of May 31, 2007,
no amounts have been paid or incurred under this commitment.
The Company has commitments with various firms for lobbying services totaling approximately
$144,000 plus out of pocket expenses for fiscal year 2008.
Note 10 - Teaming Agreement
In connection with SOCRATES®, the Company entered into a Teaming Agreement (as defined in
the Federal Acquisition Regulations) with Lockheed Martin Corporation ("Lockheed"). The
Company acted as the primary contractor and Lockheed functioned as the primary subcontractor.
The agreement was for a ten year period ending in May 2007, and as of May 31, 2007 this
agreement and the relationship with Lockheed has ended. As of May 31, 2007 and 2006, amounts
due to Lockheed were $73,321 and $80,164, respectively.
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Note 11 - Contingencies
Several lawsuits have been filed in the United States District Court for the District of
Connecticut, by purchasers of our common stock naming us, certain of our executive officers and
directors, and certain underwriters, who sold shares of our common stock to the public, as
defendants. The suits assert claims under Section 10b and 20a of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated there under and under Section 11 of the Securities Act of
1933. Plaintiffs' complaint alleges Flight Safety Technologies, Inc. omitted material information
on reports filed under the 1934 Act, registration statements filed under the 1933 Act and a
statement made on its website which made other statements about SOCRATES® false and
misleading. The plaintiffs seek unspecified damages on behalf of a purported class of purchasers
of our securities. On December 23, 2005, Plaintiffs, through their counsel, filed a consolidated
amended complaint, which asserts various violations of federal securities laws including claims
under sections 11, 12, and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 and sections 10(b) and 20 of the
Securities Act of 1934. These consolidated amended complaint claims are based on allegations
that, among other things, we made misleading statements and failed to fully disclose material
information from reports prepared by VOLPE, MIT Lincoln Laboratory and the FAA,
concerning the time table and our prospects for achieving operational viability of the
SOCRATES® Wake Vortex Sensor, and the characterization of certain litigation involving Samuel
A. Kovnat, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, that was resolved in 1992. On February 28,
2006 we filed our motion to dismiss plaintiffs' consolidated amended complaint. We firmly
believe that the claims contained in the complaints are without merit and we have filed a Motion
to Dismiss these suits. We will continue to conduct a vigorous defense in these matters, but it is
too early to predict the outcome of this litigation. Legal costs to the company on this matter have
exceeded the company's $200,000 deductible, so further legal costs are being borne by the
company's insurance provider.
In December of 2003 we were informed that the SEC had initiated an informal investigation
commensurate with the allegations described above including the role of the company and its
principals in information disseminated to the public relating to its technology development and
prospects. On August 22, 2006 the company received formal notification from the SEC that this
investigation had been terminated with no adverse findings regarding the company or any of its
principals.
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Note 11 - Contingencies (continued)
On April 26, 2004, in conjunction with the renewal of a nondisclosure agreement, we were
advised by Lockheed that it owns a certain patent which predates our SOCRATES® patent and,
according to Lockheed, contains some intellectual property related to our SOCRATES® patent.
We informed Lockheed that we disagree with these intellectual property claims.
In June of 2006, Analogic Corporation initiated a lawsuit against us and Sanders Design
International (SDI) and certain of its principals to adjudicate the relationship with SDI found in
our Teaming Agreement of 2004 with SDI and the antecedent February 2003 License Agreement
between Analogic and SDI which Analogic is claiming violates certain intellectual property
claims. We are vigorously defending our position, but it is too early to predict the outcome of
this litigation.
Our liquidity to date has primarily been provided by revenue from our government contracts and
proceeds from the sale of our equity securities. Our funded contract backlog for our Phase IV
Contract has been $0 since December 31, 2006. As of May 31, 2007, our cash and investments
were $3,389,911 and we anticipate that we will be able to fund a substantial portion if not all of
our operating expenses and technology and development costs from our own cash and
investments on hand through the end of our fiscal year May 31, 2008.
Our own resources are limited and may not be sufficient to complete the research, development
and testing that is necessary to commercialize any of our technologies. Our inability to obtain
further government or private funding for research, development and testing of our technologies
would have a material adverse affect upon our financial condition and our ability to maintain our
operations.
Note 12 - Subsequent Events
On June 8, 2007, the US Department of Transportation issued an amendment to the Phase IV
SOCRATES® contract whereby government property in the possession of Lockheed Martin
Corporation, including the $108,044 of Company inventory of SOCRATES® system
components, was assigned to the Phase IV contract and will be moved to the Company's Denver
test site to be used in the performance of the contract. These inventory costs will be charged to
expense when consumed in the contract's research and development process.
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